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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE
MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been established as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a high investment risk
may be attached. In particular, companies may list on GEM
with neither a track record of profitability nor any
obligation to forecast future profitability. Furthermore,
there may be risks arising out of the emerging nature of
companies listed on GEM and the business sectors or
countries in which the companies operate. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk
profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a
market more suited to professional and other sophisticated
investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there
will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

The principal means of information dissemination on GEM
is publication on the internet website operated by the Stock
Exchange. Listed companies are not generally required to
issue paid announcements in gazetted newspapers.
Accordingly, prospective investors should note that they
need to have access to the GEM website in order to obtain
up-to-date information on GEM-listed issuers.

The Stock Exchange takes no responsibility for the contents
of this report, makes no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever
for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of Asian Information
Resources (Holdings) Limited collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving
information with regard to Asian Information Resources
(Holdings) Limited. The directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and
belief: (1) the information contained in this report is accurate
and complete in all material respects and not misleading; (2)
there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement in this report misleading; and (3) all opinions
expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and
careful consideration and are founded on bases and
assumptions that are fair and reasonable.

FERBEXSAARAE (TBE3FT]) BIZRTH
15 (TRIRMR]) 2B

RIERDATRRREARZ AT MRILZ—
Bi5 - AHERNER LH 2 ATBARBHE
EAGCER - BATRRAIRKERF o BLoh - 7R
EREHZAT N REEHEEERZEFS
SEERB 2 TEXRBRMERAER - AER
B2 NLRTHREATZBERM - LEE
BEEAFZEEESELIRERE - QIR
ZEEEREEBHERTAERBESEE
ERMERREASE -

HREIZER L2 AT BB - ERIXR
BEZESRERENXMEREEZES
REBKZzHEKBERE > REFEEREER
EREEZESERAREEZTHE

RIERBEHRER TR THEBXTARIZE
MRz EBHEEE ERE - LHASBAE
BRIETRETIEARAMIREEE - Bt
BFRIRAZALTEER  REARERIERE
H ' LERFRIRHR LHBETAZRHEN -

BXPTHANEZANRERIEE  BHERN
RN ARREMER - WHERTES
ERANERIHEME D AR MEESEGE
B2ERRM I B2 H B RAEEMERT -

AREZERTERRIZERE S EHRA)M
T EERHABRALTZER - MFAE
(BR)BRATNSEZEMA RS HLERE
BIAERIEML - WEFE - SEERERRE
A RRERARRAE () ARXEREZE
HMESEALEIBERTE » BERER
75 () AR EWRBEREMBEEREE T
EMRBTEERE ; R(i) AR ERREZ—
NBRDEEERFEERIAITESR UL
FEEZEERBRAMKE -



Asian Information Resources (Holdings) Limited
AR (R A R A F

ap

CONTENTS

CORPORATE INFORMATION

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

REPORT OF THE AUDITORS

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

BALANCE SHEET

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i
i
8]
oip
bl
E

Ko #

EEREREBASBN

EEER

Iff
T

RYMREE

K>

RERERER

BRI R YA

Al

18
23
36
43
44
46
47
48

50

EmEER |



Asian Information Resources (Holdings) Limited
) AR (B A PR A W

CORPORATE INFORMATION
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(Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lo Mun Lam Raymond
Mr. Law Shiu Kai Andrew

Independent Non-executive Directors
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HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Hong Kong Registrars Limited

46th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKER
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

ATEH

FERBELRBFTE

EBEFETERALT
&8

BERARBER183M

& R

A61E

FEERRBIT
HE TRERIT (M) BRRAF

A Annual Report 2004 |



Asian Information Resources (Holdings) Limited
AR (R A R A F

g
CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

The Company reckoned that 2004 was the most significant
year following the Group's strategic repositioning on
information technology, logistic and educational content
services initiatives. Furthermore, the year 2004 also
represented the most challenging year for the management
due to the reorganisation of business.

The Group continued on its sectoral investment strategy in
information technology, logistic and educational content
services. The latter two being offshoots of the Group’s core
competence in information technology since the listing of the
Company. The Group has recognised and developed on its
strength in information technology by applying its technical
expertise in two separate arenas — logistic and educational
sectors. The Group's strategy is to (a) invest in development of
business in those two areas; (b) apply its information
technology expertise to assist its business investment.

The logistic business has successfully contributed to the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2004. The revenue of the
Group is now much more diversified than before. Synergy has
been created between the Group's information technology and
logistic divisions. As evidenced in the past year, the role of the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") as the world’s factory
will become more significant, and the demand for logistic
services will therefore continue to increase. Goodwill and
reputation have accrued to the Group as a result of the Group'’s
investments in the logistic field and shall continue to build-up
in the years to come.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Concerning the educational business, the Group has allocated
resources and efforts on developing online and offline
educational content services, including online Continuing
Professional Development (“CPD") program in Chinese Law,
which accredited from Hong Kong Law Society. Unfortunately,
no significant revenue is contributed by this education
business. Furthermore, the Group has disputed with the
minority shareholder of Union Resources (Educational
Development) Limited (“UR"), namely Pine Enterprises Limited
("PINE"), on the issue of management of UR. A Petition was
issued by PINE for seeking an order of High Court to certain
specific performances and alternatively that UR be wound up.
The Group is also seeking alternative solution to protect the
interest of its shareholders.

Looking to the horizon ahead, the Group’s strategic positioning
is as an information technology provider for its investments in
logistic and other suitable business. It is hoped that this can
consolidate and expand the Group's core business. This can
leverage on the Group’s core competence, strengthen the
Group's services through synergy, and allows the exploration
and development of more market opportunity. We are confident
that the Group shall at every turn bloom and blossom into a
professional and unique information technology supplier with
cutting edge software and investments in the logistic field.

Overall, the Group reported a loss before taxation for Year 2004
was approximately HK$14,955,000 as compared with that of
approximately HK$17428,000 of Year 2003. The net assets of
the Group as at 31 December 2004 were approximately
HK$16,931,000, as compared with that of approximately
HK$11,942,000 as at 31 December 2003. However, based on
the above business strategy, we believe that the logistic
business will contribute a substantial revenue to the Group in
the coming year.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

All in all, we will try our best to further strengthen our
management team and improve staff performance. The Group
will strive to provide the highest quality of services to our
customers and partners and additional value to our
shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, we would like to take this opportunity
to thank the Group's clients, suppliers, vendors, banks,
partners, consultants and shareholders for their support and
trust generously given to the Group. The Board also expresses
gratitude to the management and staff for their work and
dedication during the past years.

Xie Xuan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 December 2005
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Turnover and loss attributable to shareholders

The total turnover of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2004 was approximately HK$209,474,000 (2003:
HK$1,144,000) which was substantially increased by 183 times
as compared to that of the previous financial year. Such
enlargement in turnover was mainly attributable to the inclusion
of operating results of the newly acquired logistic service
provider specialised in freight forwarding mainly in the PRC,
Ever-OK International Forwarding Co., Ltd. ("EverOK") and
subsidiaries, since February 2004.

During the year under review, the Group persists to strengthen
its efforts in streamlining its operating costs while preserving
its competitiveness in the markets it is involved. The Group's
operating costs increased to approximately HK$45,993,000
(2003: HK$18,411,000). The increase was primarily due to the
inclusion of the results of the newly acquired logistic service
group during the year since February 2004.

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure

The Group generally financed its operation with its internally
generated resource from operation. As at 31 December 2004,
the Group had cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$7,184,000 (2003: HK$14,258,000).

The Group continues to adopt a prudent treasury policy to
maintain its cash balance either in Hong Kong Dollars, or in
the local currencies of the operating subsidiaries, maintaining
a minimum exposure to foreign exchange risks.

There was no change in the capital structure of the Group as
at 31 December 2004 as compared with that as at 31
December 2003.

EEETT RO

Bt F5EER
EXERRRELEE

AEEHE_ZFENF+_A=+—HLEFE

MR 5009,474,0008 T (ZBEE=
F 11,144,00087T) » B EEMBEEXIRE
RI183fE - HEBERRCFERFRAXEEE
—ETF— AR AR WE YRR HER
I EREBREERRAR (DIFER]) K
BRARIZKREH,E - IHEEEREERRL
ARMBARETERTEAREEENEEK -

REBEEE » NEBEBEZ DRSS KA -
BRFEREMBZHEN - AEEZKERARN
®ZE#45,993,0008 T (ZEFE=F :

18,411,000/ 7T) - Mz EEREAREEH
BE-ZENF - AT AFKBYRREER
RAFEZ£E

nEBEE MBEARREBERE

$El—ﬁu%§¥ﬁﬁﬁﬁizmﬁﬁﬁ¢

AEEBES N-TENFE+=-A=+—-8"

$$lﬁﬁ$&ﬂﬁm%ﬁzm4mmﬁﬂ:
=4 : 14,258,00087T) °

FEBEERABREREE » LU TR
HEADZ A ESR SRR S  BINE
EkEE &K -

H-_ZE=F4+_F=+—HEL  XEER
TEENF+ A=+ —HZEAREELES
Ebo

8 Annual Report 2004 |



Asian Information Resources (Holdings) Limited
AR (R A R A F

ap

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and
affiliated companies

During the year, the Group has completed the acquisition of a
60% effective interest in EverOK from independent third
parties. Apart from this, the Group has no material acquisition
or disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies during the
year.

Gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2004, the gearing ratio of the Group,
expressed as a percentage of total borrowings over total
assets, was 35% (2003: 69%).

Employee and remuneration policies

As at 31 December 2004, the Group employed a total of 237
employees (as at 31 December 2003: 39 employees), of which
22 were located in Hong Kong and the USA and the remaining
215 were located in the PRC. The Group’s remuneration policies
are in line with the prevailing market practices and formulated
on the basis of performance and experience of the employees.
The salary and related benefits of the employees are rewarded
on a performance related basis and the general remuneration
structure of the Group is subject to review annually.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

Contingent liability

(i)

10 Annual Report 2004 |

Petition

On 1 August 2005, two subsidiaries of the Group,
namely Lecture Kit Company Limited (“LK") and UR
were cited as Respondents in a petition filed by PINE,
the minority shareholder of LK, for seeking High Court’s
order to certain minority shareholder’s rights and/or if
the Court thinks fit, to wind up the UR under the Order
of the Court. The minority shareholder also disputed
certain payment of management fees by BF & ERH B
%R (#%P) BPR A F("UREDY") for services rendered
by another group company. No ruling was made by the
Court in two intervening petition hearings in September
and October of 2005. The Petitions were adjourned for
another hearing on a day to be fixed in due course. The
Group is taking legal advice as to the merits of the
proceedings and the outcome of the dispute is still
pending and may lead to the winding up of the
subsidiaries. The said winding up action would have no
material adverse effect on the financial position of the
Group with the exception that its investments in these
subsidiaries would be de-consolidated. As for the year
ended 31 December 2004, the assets and liabilities of
these subsidiaries were consolidated into the financial
statements of the Group in accordance with the
Accounting Standards applicable at the time of the
preparation of the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2004.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

(ii) Option

Cyber Strategy Limited (“CS"), a subsidiary of the Group,
had received notification from PINE demanding CS to
purchase its 20% equity interest in LK for HK$
12,500,000. The Group is taking legal advice as to the
merits of the demand and counter claims might be
instigated by the Group against the minority shareholder.
Having consider the legal structure of the Group, the
directors consider that such demand even if succeeded,
would have had no material impact on the financial
position of the Group or it's ability to continue to operate
its other principal activities since the obligation to
purchase the 20% equity interest in LK rests with a
specific subsidiary only.

OPERATIONAL REVIEW
LOGISTIC AND LOGISTIC MANAGEMENT

During the year 2004, the upsurge in the turnover of the Group
was mainly derived from revenue in the logistic business. On
1 February 2004, the Group completed its 60% shareholding
investment in EverOK, a company incorporated in the PRC with
a registered capital of RMB17300,000. The year 2004 was the
first year the financial results of EverOK were included in the
consolidated financial results of the Group. EverOK'’s main line
of business is in freight forwarding, both in air and ocean
freight. EverOK has branches and subsidiaries in the following
cities in the PRC: Guangzhou, Ningbo, Qingdao, Shanghai,
Shenzhen, Tianjin, Xiamen and Hong Kong. EverOK also has
an overseas subsidiary located in Los Angeles, United States
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

of America which has been established in 2004. EverOK
currently uses this overseas subsidiary to bid for business in
the United States. With a view of developing a global network,
EverOK is currently in the early stages of developing its
European line of business and will seek to establish mutually
beneficial relationships, alliances and ventures with local
European companies where feasible.

The Group has developed and implemented an elLogistics
information technology platform tailor-made for EverOK'’s freight
forwarding business. This elLogistics platform allows
management of EverOK to make timely and informed decisions
to maximise the utilisation of EverOK'’s financial, logistic and
manpower resources to deliver timely, speedy and
comprehensive services to its clientele.

During the year 2004, the Group also completed its
collaborative Innovative and Technology Fund (“ITF") project
with the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
("UST"). The project, namely “Advanced Distribution and
Transportation Systems: Research and Development into
Interoperability and Collaborative Commerce’ is research and
development of technologies in intelligent Decision Support
System (“DSS”), information technology, communication
technologies, integration, interoperability and collaborative
methodologies in distribution and transportation decision
support system. The modules are not only on freight forwarding
but also on warehousing, transportation and other areas of
the logistic chain. It is expected that the service efficiency of
EverOK and other logistic service providers can be enhanced
upon full implementation of the research modules in their
information technology systems. As all intellectual property
rights of the ITF project belongs to the Group, the Group is
continuing of perfecting the details, expanding the scope and
building new functions for the system. EverOK is presently in
the process of implementing the software of the ITF project
into its operational flow. The Group expects to benefit from
the system in the near future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

Prospects (Logistic and Logistic Management)

The reason for the Group’s dual initiatives in both investment
in logistic service provider and investment in research on
logistic management is related to the Company's view of
logistic as a vital support leg in the growth of the PRC as one
of the world’s production and export powerhouse. Exports of
the PRC has thus far already captured a sizable share of the
world’'s market for consumer goods. It is expected that with
the effects of the PRC joining the World Trade Organisation
beginning to unfold, the growth of the PRC in the production
and export arenas will continue its skyward trajectory. Growth
in logistic support will also follow quickly, just two steps behind
the growth of the PRC in production and exports. In the light
of this development, the Company's investments mentioned
above will be well positioned to capitalise on the future increase
in demand for logistic services in the PRC.

The world is moving towards internationalisation in terms of
production and product delivery. Timely product delivery is now
becoming just as important as timely production output. With
product delivery overseas taking a fairly large percentage of
time of the product production and delivery cycle, logistic
management will increasingly become an indispensable area
that companies will look to in order to increase
competitiveness. Concepts like “Supply chain management’,
“Just-in-time inventory” are examples of the foci companies
monitoring their costs saving and improve service quality. If
these improvements cannot be done in-house, companies are
now increasingly cost-conscious to considering the option of
outsourcing their logistic functions. For companies already
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

using outsource freight forwarders, those who can meet the
service quality benchmarks will have a differentiating
competitive advantage. Bearing in mind all these, the Group is
determined to bring its information technology expertise to
service not just its subsidiary, EverOK, but also other logistic
players around the world who may be in need of logistic
management software. Improvements in logistic management
efficiency through advanced software will help logistic service
providers to develop the competitive advantage they need to
attract and keep clients. EverOK should therefore continue to
be the mainstay of the Group in terms of revenue volume in
the years to come.

EDUCATION

Since its establishment in 2003 to provide Chinese legal
training, the Hong Kong Institute of Chinese Law (the
“Institute”) has passed numerous milestones with its online
the PRC law program, the CPD Program in the PRC Law. From
program design and production in the early part of 2004, to its
launching and operation, the Institute has quickly but firmly
established itself in Hong Kong as the first provider of Law
Society accredited online PRC Law course. This course caters
to the needs of course attendees outside China who wishes
to obtain an understanding of the law of the PRC.

In May 2004, after the CPD Program in the PRC Law was first
offered to legal professionals in Hong Kong, the Institute
entered into cooperation with the Hong Kong Management
Association (an organisation established since 1960 with an
approximate annual number of participants of 60,000) to open
admission of the Program to non-legal attendees. As a result,
the PRC law courses offered by the Institute have received
accreditation by the SFAA (Student Financial Assistance
Agency) of the Hong Kong SAR Government under the
Continuing Education Fund (“CEF"). This means that attendees
can claim back a large part of the course fees from the Hong
Kong SAR Government upon completion of the courses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

Since its launch, the CPD Program in the PRC Law has received
much positive feedback from numerous participants, including
lawyers and management professionals from various industries
engaged in businesses with investments in the PRC. The
implementation of the on-line educational content services
provision system developed in-house by the Group to the
courses is therefore beginning to reap harvest.

Unfortunately, a campus property in the PRC (the "Property”)
held by UREDY was illegally occupied by a third party. The
occupation took place even before UREDY was acquired by the
Group. UREDY has spent time and efforts in the PRC litigation
against the occupier to recover the Property.

In addition, despite the resources and efforts were spent by the
Group in conducting the educational business, there is no
substantial revenue contributed to the Group. Furthermore, the
disagreement with PINE, the minority shareholder of LK, on the
management of UR has caused PINE issued a Petition on LK and
UR on 1 August 2005 for seeking an order from the High Court of
Hong Kong to certain specific performance and alternatively that
UR be wound up. The management of the Group has devoted
significant time to resolve this dispute and the Group is seeking
alternative solution to protect the interest of its shareholders.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

During the year 2004, the Group continues to provide various
value-added services in its information technology sector. The
services can be delineated into the following sectors — content
provision and consulting, software solutions and design and
hosting services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

Content Provision and Consulting

The business in this sector consists of providing content for
various web sites owners. The content consists of news, laws,
regulations, industrial news, data and information, and business
success story articles. The nature of the content involves both
facts and commentary. The Group levies on its expertise in the
consulting field to provide high quality commentary to
accompany the factual news, data and information provided to
clients. The Group continues to arrange for business ties with
world-class research and consulting firms so as to ready itself
for further opportunities in the content provision and consulting
fields.

Software Solutions

As mentioned above, the Group completed in 2004 its
collaborative ITF project with UST. The ITF project is a milestone
in the software development track of the Group. While the
Group may have completed various other software projects
for various clients in the past, this is the first time that the
Group has completed a software project of the size, scale,
scope and details the ITF project entails. For these reasons,
involvement of UST as a partner is both essential and mutually
beneficial. Although the input of UST ceased as the ITF project
has been completed, the Group will continue to build on the
software created by the ITF project. It is anticipated that the
software will be of extensive application usage for both the
Group's logistic business (EverOK) and the business of
operations of the other major logistic players.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

Design and hosting services

The Group's design and hosting services includes: (a) email
hosting services; (b) web hosting services; (c) server hosting
services and (d) web design services. The Group’s new clients
in this sector comes mainly from its web design services. After
the Group has rendered satisfactory web design services to
its new clients, some new clients may continue to use the
Group's one-stop services in email hosting, web hosting and
server hosting. The Group is committed to provide a high quality
services to new and existing clients alike and this sector will
continue to be one of the main revenue streams of the Group's
information technology business.

Prospects (Information Technology)

The Group will continue its wide-base diversified range of
business services in content provision and consulting, software
solutions and design and hosting services. The information
technology field allows the Group to diversify its business
scope and shield itself from adverse market conditions in any
one sub-sector. This strategy enhances the Group's investment
initiative in the related fields of information technology and
logistic. The information field in this model serves as the hub
by which the logistic sector spokes are linked up. The Group's
information technology field therefore shall remain the
structural core of the Group and it shall be instrumental to the
future development potential of the Group.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT PROFILES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xie Xuan
Chairman

Mr. Xie, aged 36, joined the Group in 2002. Mr. Xie has over 12
years of successful investment and management experience
in the areas of property and logistic in the PRC. He graduated
from Jinan University with a degree in International Economics.

Mr. Ho Wing Yiu
Chief Executive Officer, Managing Director and Compliance
Officer

Mr. Ho, aged 42, is the chief executive officer of Asian
Information Resources (Holdings) Limited. He serves the
directorship and legal representative of various major group
subsidiaries since joining the Group in 2002.

Before joining the Group, Mr. Ho has over 15 years' of high
level project management and investment experience. Mr. Ho
has managed a wide variety of corporate restructuring and
business planning projects in Asia, Europe and North America,
in the following areas: media, telecommunications, logistic and
technology transfer.

Mr. Ho graduated from University of Oxford with a degree in
M. Phil (Economics).
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Lo Mun Lam Raymond

Mr. Lo, aged 52, is the Managing Partner and a Responsible
Officer of an investment advisory and assets management firm
based in Hong Kong. He has previously served in many multi-
disciplinary listed and major companies as an advisor, director
and financial strategist. He is a member of the Counselors of
Real Estate, a professional membership organisation in the
United States established exclusively for leading real estate
advisor. He is also a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England & \Wales, a member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of Ontario, Canada and a member of
the Hotel & Catering International Management Association
of the United Kingdom.

Mr. Law Shiu Kai Andrew

Mr. Law, aged 46, is a solicitor qualified to practise in Hong
Kong, Australia and the United Kingdom. He has devoted
extensive efforts to both the business and law relating to the
information technology industry. Mr. Law has been the honorary
legal advisor to the Hong Kong Computer Society since 1988
and the chairman of Management and Technology for
Professional Practice Committee of the Law Society of Hong
Kong since 1995.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Wu Jixue

Mr. Wu, aged 59, holds a Master degree in Economics. He is
currently a professor, guest lecturer and visiting scholar at a
number of colleges and universities in the PRC and abroad.
He has published more than 220 papers and 18 books in the
areas of economics, finance and management.

EFEREREEASHN

EBITES

EXE BtZm B—RUBBREMZR
ERBREEEEQARACEEERAREEA
8o lthAl  REAZERBZSBER AR L
mRREEER - ESRMBRIETER -
EXERBEREFREERB SRR+ - &bk
AEXEEAE  EAREEHEBRRBMR -
BRAEEEABANSTETMASERS
8 - MERZABFHFSHMATSERKEE
BEREREMREEEEEE -

BBERE

mULE WOt AE AEE  BNRERZH
M - K—EBNREEMMREEIEE
FERSH - BAEB-—NANN\FELBHBE
MEEr FBLERERE  UARB-NWNEFiE
AEBEMENEREMAXEEZS ST
fE o

BIEPITESE
RS EE

BEE - Athe BEEEBRELEN K
BRZRURTERENERR KB 2 HEK
EEEMRGEEE - RERXEB-_F -t
BRARLE  MBEREERX  LEHRT
NEEBELE -

—zznssg 19




Asian Information Resources (Holdings) Limited
AR (R A R A F

ap

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT PROFILES

Mr. Yang Zhenhong

Mr. Yang, aged 48, is a practicing lawyer and arbitrator in the
PRC. Mr. Yang holds a Bachelor degree in Economics and a
Master degree in Laws. He has over 25 years of experience in
the PRC taxation, company and commercial law. He is currently
a lawyer in a PRC law firm. He is also a part-time professor at
Guangdong Judges’ College (BHRAE 2F%) and legislative
consultant to the Standing Committee of Guangzhou People’s
Congress (EMH AKREZEE). He is a committee member of
the Research Institute of Jurisprudence of the PRC (FR B A1
B E) and the Research Institute of Taxation of the PRC
(PR FEMES) and a vice-president of Guangdong
Research Institute of Taxation (BERE BB EMER).

Mr. Zhang Daorong

Mr. Zhang, aged 34, is a Certified Public Accountant and
Certified Tax Agent in the PRC. He holds a Bachelor degree in
Economics and a Master degree in Business Administration.
He has over 10 years of experience in accounting, auditing
and taxation. He is currently a project manager in a firm of
certified public accountants in the PRC.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Tang Yuen Ching Irene
Qualified Accountant and Financial Controller

Ms. Tang, aged 36, joined the Group in 2004. Prior to joining
the Group, Ms. Tang has held positions as executive director,
qualified accountant, company secretary as well as chief
financial officer in companies listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange. She is responsible for the overall financial control
and management of the Group. Ms. Tang has over 13 years
experience in auditing, accounting and financial management
in the fields of media, logistic, health and beauty business.
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Ms. Tang graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants.

Mr. Yeung Mario Bercasio
Legal Counsel and Company Secretary

Mr. Yeung, aged 43, joined the Group in 2005. He is responsible
for legal and corporate compliance related matters of the Group.
Mr. Yeung has over 8 years' experience in investment, legal
and corporate finance. Prior to entering in legal professions,
Mr. Yeung has about 10 years’ working experience in telecom
and semiconductor business.

Mr. Yeung graduated from Northumbria University, the United
Kingdom with a degree in Bachelor of Engineering and The
University of Hong Kong with a Postgraduate Certificate in
Laws. He is a member of the Law Society of Hong Kong.

Mr. Yiu Kwong Yick Christopher
Commercial Director

Mr.Yiu, aged 61, joined the Group in 2003. He is also the Vice-
President of a subsidiary of the Group — EverOK. Mr. Yiu is
responsible for the overall business development and strategic
planning of the Group. He is a logistic expert with over 31 years
of commercial experience in the logistic and transportation
sectors in the PRC and the Pacific area. He has held senior
management and key position in a number of major logistic
enterprises players around the world, such as SHK Super
Logistic, ITEL Container Corporation International and Peninsula
& Oriental Steamship Navigation Company.

Mr. Yiu graduated from the University of Hong Kong and is
currently a Court member of the University. He is also a
member of the Chinese People's Political Consultative
Conference.
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Mr. Wong Chun Wing
IT Manager

Mr. Wong, aged 36, joined the Group in 2002. He has over 14
years' experience in the information technology and
telecommunications industry in Hong Kong. His previous work
experience includes working for AT&T Online Services and
Jardine Securicor. Prior to joining the Group, he was the IT
Manager of South China Holding Limited (“SCH"). He joined
SCH in 1999 focusing in the group system development and
network infrastructure building for different branch companies.

Mr. Wong holds a Bachelor degree in Digital Control System
from University of Sunderland, the United Kingdom.

Mr. Leung Chin Man
Network Technology Consultant

Mr. Leung, aged 44, joined the Group in 2002. He is responsible
for the Group’s network design and project implementation.
He has over 12 years experience in the network infrastructure.
His previous work experience includes working for AT&T Online
Services. Prior to joining the Group, he was the Senior System
Engineer of Hutchison Telecom (“HT"). He joined HT in 1998
and focused in the HT corporation network.

Mr. Leung holds a Bachelor degree in Computer Science from
Victoria University of Technology, Australia.

Ms. Poon ChungYi, Sally
Associate Director, Business Development

Ms. Poon, aged 32, joined the Group inYear 2005. She is leading
a team of strategists being responsible for the strategic
planning of the company. Ms. Poon has extensive experience
in investment projects, particularly in the areas of property and
site development, telecom and logistic related infrastructure
investment.

Ms. Poon holds a Master degree in Politics of the World
Economy from the London School of Economics.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) submit their
report together with the audited financial statements of the
Company and the Group for the year ended 31 December 2004.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS
OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out
in Note 16 to the financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's turnover and loss before taxation
for the year ended 31 December 2004 by principal activities is
as follows:

By principal activities: BREEZXEKED
Content solution NA M ERRT R
IT enabling technology B RHT AR BB AT
Educational content services HERNB R
Logistic services 07 AR %

Interest income SN ON

Forfeiture of deposit on BWIEEMHERE
purchase of property

Unallocated corporate expenses REEDEEEMX

Finance costs B & R AN

An analysis of the Group'’s turnover and loss before taxation
for the year ended 31 December 2004 by geographical areas
is as follows:

By geographical areas: RitEE D

Hong Kong BE

The PRC $

USA EJE]

Interest income FE YA
Forfeiture of deposit on BWIEEMHERE

purchase of property

Unallocated corporate expenses REEDEEEMX
Finance costs B & R AN

AATES (B BHBSHRESRE
AAAARAEERE-ST B

B
=t

Uty

—LFEZEERMBRE
REBEEBRWBES S 2EESHT

ARBZEBXBRREER -WEBRARZE
BEEBRINIBRRMEE16 -

AEBHE=TT

NE+=B=+—HLFE

BEEXEBE D 2 EXBREHABE D

T

Profit/(loss)

before taxation

Turnover BrBimiaas

BXH (B518)

HK$000 HK$°000

FET FET

855 (113)

403 (10)

366 (7.876)

207,850 (1,296)

— 53

— 9,545

— (13,504)

— (1,754)

209,474 (14,955)
AEEHE-TENF A=+ RLEE

BB D 2 EXEBRRRAEEIMAT ¢

Profit/(loss)
before taxation

Turnover BBt muiE A
- 30 (E518)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEBT FET
2,651 (5,552)
200,317 (16,361)
6,506 (777)
— 53

_ 9,545

_ (109)

_ (1,754)
209,474 (14,955)
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EETHRESE
RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS ZERKER

The loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2004
and the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at
that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 43
to 104 of this Annual Report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.
SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group

for the last five financial years is as follows. This summary does
not form part of the audited financial statements:

AEEBE_EZNF+_-_A=1+—HILEE
ZEBRAEBRAQNRNZB 2B E
RAER M BERKREFEISEI104E ©

ESTTFERRERE -
FEERNBEREVRFEZXEREERS

BEHE CHMETBLEERY BHRE 2 —5)
N

Results of the Group
for the year ended 31 December

FEEEE
BE+-A=1+—BLIZEE
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
—BENE —2T=F —TE-_HF 2T —ZTEFTHF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#EIT FET FET FETT FETT
Turnover =E2-0 209,474 1,144 1,859 4,01 11,494
Net loss from ordinary ~ BRERFE(L
activities attributable HEEK
to shareholders 518 F 58 (4,334) (14,609) (4,852) (70,778) (48,661)
Loss per share BRER
(HK cents) CEAl) (0.9) (3.1) (1.0) (14.9) (10.2)
Assets and liabilities of the Group
as at 31 December
FEESEREE
BE+=-A=+—H
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
—EFNFE —TT=F —TT-F —ET-F —TTEF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEIT FETT FET FETT FETT
Total assets BMEE 78,938 62,781 31,885 50,581 122,093
Less: Total liabilities and 8 : BEEER
minority interests DHREMEZE  (62,007)  (50,839) (5,334)  (19,178)  (19,912)
Net assets EEFE 16,931 11,942 26,551 31,403 102,181
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in Note 13 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

There were no movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2004, no share options were
granted (2003: Nil). Details of the share option scheme of the
Company are set out in Note 22 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHT

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated, which could oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASES, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company'’s listed securities during
the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in Note 23 to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2004, the Company has no reserves
available for distribution to shareholders (2003: Nil) in
accordance with the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands
and the Company'’s articles of association.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable
to the Group’s major customers and suppliers are as follows:

Sales

the largest customer 6%
five largest customers combined 22%
Purchases

the largest supplier 6%
five largest suppliers combined 21%

To the best knowledge of the Directors, neither the Directors,
their associates, nor any shareholders who own more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital had any beneficial
interest in the Group's five largest customers and/or five largest
suppliers during the year.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
are:

Executive Directors
Mr. Xie Xuan (Chairman)
Mr. Ho WingYiu (Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lo Mun Lam Raymond
Mr. Law Shiu Kai Andrew
(Redesignated from Independent Non-executive Director on
30 September 2004)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wu Jixue

(Appointed on 21 April 2004)
Mr. Yang Zhenhong

(Appointed on 30 September 2004)
Mr. Zhang Daorong

(Appointed on 30 September 2004)
Mr. Lam Tze Ling

(Resigned on 18 March 2004)

All Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors have been appointed for a term of one year.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company,
Mr. Yang Zhenhong, Mr. Zhang Daorong and Mr. Law Shiu Kai
Andrew shall retire from office and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election. All other remaining Directors shall
continue in office.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is
not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of
the Group to which the Company, its holding company or any
of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the
year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Group were entered into or subsisted during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Particulars of retirement benefits schemes are set out in Note
8 to the financial statements.
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COMPETING INTEREST

Pursuant to Rule 11.04 of the GEM Listing Rules, as at 31
December 2004, the interest of each of the Directors,
management shareholders and their respective associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) who compete or may
compete with the business of the Group is set out below:

Entity that competes or
may compete with
business of the Group

Substantial Shareholder EAEEEREBREREN
FTERE TREERRREZEE

New World CyberBase
Limited

New World CyberBase
Limited

it RIS E M BR QT MERBIGEBAERRF

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, management
shareholders of the Company and their respective associates
had any interest in a business which competes or may
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of
the Group nor any conflicts of interest which has or may have
with the Group.
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Competing business of the entity

ZEREBRGEZER

Provision of total e-Business solutions
including software products, application
total solutions and information technology
services in the Greater China Region
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2004, none of the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company had registered an interest or short
position in any shares or underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations that was
required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO"), or as otherwise
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Rules 5.46 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ and chief
executive's interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures” above and in the share option scheme
disclosures in Note 22 to the financial statements, at no time
during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares or debentures in the Company or any
other body corporate granted to any Directors or their
respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective spouse
or minor children to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES DISCLOSEABLE
UNDERTHE SFO

As at 31 December 2004, the following persons (other than
the Directors and chief executives of the Company) had
interests and short positions in the share and underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register of interests required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO:

Long positions in the shares of the Company

Name of shareholder Capacity
R & 5
Asian Dynamics International Beneficial owner
Limited (Note 1) (BfaE1) EmBEAA
Aldgate Agents Beneficial owner
Limited (Note 2) (Kt%2) ERERA
New World CyberBase Interest of a
Limited controlled
Tt REFEE AR AT corporation

ZEAEER
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RZZZ2NF+ZA=+—B  THAL &
RNAEBBRITRARRIN RERF KRG KA
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ERRKE
AATRBEFE
Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
Number of issued
ordinary share capital
Nature of shares held {HAXATIEETT
interest B ¥ 38 B BEZ
EamE &8 Baat
Corporate 264,934,000 55.63%
NG
Corporate 66,120,000 13.88%
NG
Corporate 66,120,000 13.88%
NG
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SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER THE SFO (Contd)

Notes:

1. Asian Dynamics International Limited is a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands and beneficially owned by Asian
Wealth Incorporated, Denwell Enterprises Limited, Glamour
House Limited, Mr. Chan Chi Ming and Mr. Chau Tak Tin.

2. Aldgate Agents Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of New
World CyberBase Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code 276). Their interests in the shares of the
Company duplicate with each other.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2004, no person,
other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company,
whose interests are set out under the heading “Directors’ and
chief executive's interests and short positions in shares,
underlying shares and debentures” above, had registered an
interest or short position in any shares or underlying shares or
debentures of the Company that was required to be recorded
under Section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT SHAREHOLDER

As far as the Directors are aware of, other than Asian Dynamics
International Limited, New World CyberBase Limited and
Aldgate Agents Limited as disclosed above, there was no other
person during the year ended 31 December 2004 who was
directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the shares
then in issue of the Company and who was able, as a
practicable matter, to direct or influence the management of
the Company.
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CONDITIONAL CONVERTIBLE NOTE GRANTED BY
SUBSIDIARY

A convertible note was issued on 1 February 2004 by LK to
PINE with a face value of HK$20,650,000 in consideration of
the waiver of loans of approximately HK$43,500,000 made by
the beneficial shareholder of PINE to UR. The convertible note
and interest thereon will be due on 31 January 2006. The
convertible note bears interest at 0.65% per month calculated
from 12 May 2003 until 1 February 2006. In the event that one
of the following events happen (“Listing Event”):

1. LK's shares are listed on the Stock Exchange or other
stock exchange approved by both PINE and LK; or

2. If a company listed on the Stock Exchange issues share
capital in exchange for LK's:

(i) Full share capital; or
(i) Entire assets and liabilities,

then PINE will be entitled to exercise a conversion of the entire
outstanding balance payable under the convertible note into
LK's shares. PINE shall in such event will be entitled to convert
the convertible note into fully paid shares of LK within 12
calendar months of the Listing Event at the following rate:

A. At such rate as LK and PINE shall agree upon; or failing
agreement at

B.  The price of the new shares of LK as offered to the public
at the Listing Event less a special 10 percent discount.
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CONDITIONAL CONVERTIBLE NOTE GRANTED BY
SUBSIDIARY (Contd)

Based on the current state of affairs, the Company does not
foresee the Listing Event will materialise in the near future.
The conversion right under the convertible note is conditional
only because LK will have to give consent to participate in the
Listing Event (at such terms favourable to LK) before the
conversion right accrues to PINE. Details are mentioned in Note
20 to the financial statements.

BOARD PRACTICES AND PROCEDURES

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied
throughout the year ended 31 December 2004 with the “Board
Practices and Procedures” as set out in Rules of 5.34 to 5.45
(if applicable) of the GEM Listing Rules, which applied before
the amendments of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the code
on Corporate Governance Practices and Rules on Corporate
Governance Report on 1 January 2005. The Board will prepare
a Corporate Governance Report in accordance with Rule 18.44
of the GEM Listing Rules for the financial year ending 31
December 2005.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

Although the Company has not adopted any code of conduct
regarding the Directors’ securities transactions, it has made
specific enquiry of all Directors and the Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with all the required
standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2004.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the Independent Non-executive Directors to
be independent based on the annual confirmations received.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

In compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has established an audit committee comprising only
of the Independent Non-executive Directors. The audit
committee is chaired by Mr. Zhang Daorong and the other
members are Mr. Wu Jixue and Mr. Yang Zhenhong. The audit
committee has adopted written terms of reference governing
its authorities and duties. The primary duties of the audit
committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting
process and internal controls of the Group. The audit committee
has reviewed the draft of this report and has provided advice
and comments thereon.

During the year, the audit committee held four meetings to
review the Group’s operating results and to provide advice and
recommendations to the Board of Directors.

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers resigned as auditors of the Company
on 21 January 2005 and Horwath Hong Kong CPA Limited were
appointed auditors of the Company on 23 February 2005 to fill
the casual vacancy so arising.

The financial statements have been audited by Horwath Hong
Kong CPA Limited.

By Order of the Board
Xie Xuan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 December 2005
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/\ Horwath

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ASIAN INFORMATION
RESOURCES (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(BB (IR ) B R 24 F)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements on pages 43 to 104
which have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDITORS

The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation
of financial statements which give a true and fair view. In
preparing financial statements which give a true and fair view
it is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are
selected and applied consistently. It is our responsibility to form
an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financial
statements and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report.

BB EE

Horwath Hong Kong CPA Limited
2001 Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Telephone 1 (852) 2526 2191

Facsimile : (852) 2810 0502
horwath@horwath.com.hk
www.horwath.com.hk
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BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of
Auditing Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, except that the scope of our work
was limited as explained below.

An audit includes an examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant
estimates and judgments made by the directors in the
preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s and the
Group’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately
disclosed.

We planned our audit so as to obtain all the information and
explanations which we considered necessary in order to
provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement. However, the evidence available to us
was limited as follows:

1. Scope limitation — accounts receivable and accounts
payable

Accounts receivable and accounts payable presented in
the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2004
included accounts receivable and accounts payable in
respect of Ever-OK International Forwarding Co. Ltd.
(“EverOK") and subsidiaries (“the EverOK Group”) in the
amounts of HK$21,766,000 and HK$21,368,000
respectively. These balances were stated after the Group
had written off unreconciled net differences of
HK$3,919,000 amongst accounts receivable of the
EverOK Group as bad and doubtful debts and written back
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BASIS OF OPINION (Contd)

1.
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Scope limitation — accounts receivable and accounts
payable (Contd)

net differences of HK$4,063,000 amongst accounts
payable of the EverOK Group as other income. The nature
of these differences and the basis of determining the
above mentioned accounts receivable and accounts
payable are described in Note 3(a)(iii) to the financial
statements. There is no practicable audit procedure that
we could adopt to ascertain whether or not accounts
receivable and accounts payable of the EverOK Group
were fairly stated.

Scope limitation — impairment in land and buildings

Land and buildings with a carrying value of
HK$39,000,000 as at 31 December 2004 represented land
and buildings held by the Group’s subsidiaryB#& & R
AR (F%&2B) AR A ("UREDY") (the “Property”). The
carrying value corresponded to the open market value of
the Property with vacant possession as estimated by a
firm of professional valuers as at 31 July 2005. In view of
the Property being illegally occupied by a third party even
before UREDY was acquired by the Group and there is
no indication as to when UREDY will be able to regain
possession of the Property, we consider that the value
of the Property has significantly impaired and it was not
appropriate to state the Property at open market value
with vacant possession as estimated by the professional
valuers as of 31 July 2005. There is no practicable audit
procedure that we could adopt to ascertain the fair value
of the Property as at 31 December 2004 and the extent
of impairment losses.
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REPORT OF THE AUDITORS BHEnSRES

BASIS OF OPINION (Contd) BERZEE &)

Scope limitation — amount written off and amounts
written back

As referred to in paragraph 1 above, during the year, the
Group wrote off unreconciled net differences of
HK$3,919,000 amongst accounts receivable of the
EverOK Group as bad and doubtful debts.

During the year, the Group wrote back the following
amounts to other income:

()  HK$414,000 representing unreconciled net
differences amongst the inter-branch balances within
the EverOK Group; and

(i)  HK$4,063,000 representing unreconciled net
differences amongst accounts payable of the EverOK
Group as referred to in paragraph 1 above.

There is no practicable audit procedure that we could
adopt to ascertain whether or not it was appropriate to
write off or write-back the above amounts.

Scope limitation — goodwiill

Goodwill in the balance sheet as at 31 December 2004
included goodwill with a carrying value of HK$4,944,000
arising from the acquisition of a 60% equity interest in
EverOK by the Group during the year. The Group calculated
the goodwill by reference to the unaudited management
accounts of EverOK as at the date of acquisition. In
addition, EverOK sustained a loss during the year and we
have not been provided with sufficient information
regarding its future profitability to justify the carrying value
of the above goodwill. There is no practicable audit
procedure that we could adopt to ascertain the fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of EverOK.

B 4% G [ BR W1 — fi 85 0 B8 % 38 Bl SR B
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REPORT OF THE AUDITORS

BASIS OF OPINION (Contd)
4. Scope limitation — goodwill (Contqd)

Accordingly we are unable to determine whether or not
the goodwill arising from the acquisition of EverOK is fairly
stated and whether or not any impairment loss should
be made against the goodwill. Any adjustment to the
goodwill would have a consequential effect on the loss
for the year and net assets of the Group.

Any adjustments in respect of the foregoing matters to
the above would affect the net assets of the Group and
the net liabilities of the Company as at 31 December 2004
and the loss and cash flows of the Group for the year
then ended and/or the related disclosures thereof in these
financial statements.

In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall
adequacy of the presentation of information in the
financial statements. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

FUNDAMENTAL UNCERTAINTIES

In forming our opinion, we have considered the adequacy of
the disclosures made in the financial statements concerning
the following matters:

(i) The basis of preparation of financial statements made by
the directors. As explained in Note 3(a)(ii) to the financial
statements, the Group sustained a loss from ordinary
activities attributable to shareholders of HK$4,334,000
during the year and had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$574,000 and shareholders’ funds of
only HK$16,931,000 as at 31 December 2004. The
financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the
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REPORT OF THE AUDITORS

FUNDAMENTAL UNCERTAINTIES (Contd)

financial support of a substantial shareholder which has
agreed to provide not more than HK$12,000,000 to
finance the working capital requirements of the Group.
The circumstances relating to this fundamental
uncertainty are described in Note 3(a)(ii) to the financial
statements; and

(i) Possible outcome of the litigation against Lecture Kit
Company Limited (“LK") and Union Resources
(Educational Development) Limited (“UR") by the minority
shareholder of LK whereby the minority shareholder
disputed the payment of management fees by UREDY
for services rendered by another group company. The
outcome of the dispute is pending. LK is an 80%
subsidiary of the Group and holds a 51% equity interest
in UR which holds the entire registered capital of UREDY.
The dispute may also lead to the winding up of UR. Details
of the circumstances relating to this fundamental
uncertainty are described in Note 27(i) to the financial
statements.

We consider that the above fundamental uncertainties have
been adequately accounted for and disclosed in the financial
statements and our opinion is not qualified in these respects.
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REPORT OF THE AUDITORS

QUALIFIED OPINION: DISCLAIMER ON VIEW GIVEN BY
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Because of the significance of the possible effects of the scope
limitations in evidence available to us as set out in the basis of
opinion section of this report, we are unable to form an opinion
as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
31 December 2004 and of the loss and cash flows of the Group
for the year then ended. In all other respects, in our opinion
the financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

In respect alone of the limitations on our work as set out in
the basis of opinion section of this report, particularly in respect
of accounts receivable and accounts payable of the EverOK
Group:

(i) we have not obtained all the information and explanations
that we considered necessary for the purpose of our audit;
and

(i) we were unable to determine whether proper books of
accounts had been kept.

HORWATH HONG KONG CPA LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

2001 Central Plaza
18 Harbour Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong

23 December 2005

Shiu Hong Ng

Practising Certificate number P03752
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT &Z&8&3%

For the year ended 31 December 2004 #Z —ZEZEMF+_-A=+—HIFE

2004 2003
i1 311 - 3 —EE=F
Note HK$000 HK$'000
HtaF FET FET
Turnover —F %] 5 209,474 1,144
Cost of services RS A& (197,011) (181)
Gross profit EH 12,463 963
Other revenue Hib A 5 20,329 1,069
Administrative expenses TBREX (39,738) (13,508)
Other operating expenses HihEERX (6,255) (4,903)
Loss from operating activities EEEBEBE 6 (13,201) (16,379)
Finance costs RIE R AE 7 (1,754) (1,049)
Loss before taxation BB RIS 1R (14,955) (17,428)
Taxation HiIE 10 (2,955) —
Loss before minority interests Rt LB EERRZEBE (17,910) (17,428)
Minority interests DE R RED 13,576 2,819
Net loss from ordinary activities FXREEHEER
attributable to shareholders B518i% 8 11 (4,334) (14,609)
Loss per share — Basic BiEE-E%X 12 (0.9 centsflll) (3.1 centsili)

The notes on pages 50 to 104 form part of these financial FO0EZRI104BE 2B A EHREK 2 — 80
statements. il
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET Z8&8EEBER

At 31 December 2004 R=_ZEZEE{+—-F=+—H

Assets and liabilities

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Development costs
Goodwill
Long-term investment
Investment deposit

Current assets
Accounts receivable
Prepayments, deposits
and other receivables
Amounts due from
related companies
Cash and bank balances

Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accruals and other payables
Advances from customers
Amounts due to directors
Amounts due to a related company
Taxation payable

Net current (liabilities)/assets

Total assets less current
liabilities carried forward

EERERE

ERBEE

M BE KRB
0N

kS

RERE
RERE

nENEE

FE WS BR 3K
BANRIE - BER
HL Al FE U AR K
FEW B A BRI

BE RIRITHERR

nENE R
FEAY BR 3K

FARE AR HMEMRK

BEFEBM
NEEE
FEY BB N RIFA
P H1R

e (8K EEFE
MEAERTDEREE

Note
B &

13

14

15
24(c)

17

26(a)

18
1

26(b)

2004 2003
—RYME  —BV=%F
HK$'000 HK$000
F#ET FET
41,475 45,109
980 =
4,944 —
- 300

- 2,262
47,399 47,671
21,989 204
2,340 648

26 —

7184 14,258
31,539 15,110
21,732 370
6,840 6,177
241 276

345 —

- 182

2,955 —
32,113 7,005
(574) 8,105
46,825 55,776
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET Z8&8EEBER

At 31 December 2004 R=_ZEZEE{+—-F=+—H

2004 2003
—EENF —EE=F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B & F#ET FET
Total assets less current liabilities #2&ERinEN & ER B
brought forward 46,825 55,776
Non-current liabilities FEREEE
Convertible note payable AR CI R 20 (20,650) —
Amounts due to directors EAEEFE 26(b) (4,040) —
Amounts due to T2 ERRFRIE 26(c)&(d)
minority shareholders (2,984) =
Loan from a related party BEALER 20 - (43,368)
(27,674) (43,368)
Minority interests DR (2,220) (466)
Net assets SEFE 16,931 11,942
Capital and reserves R # 1
Share capital [ 3 21 47,624 47,624
Reserves e (30,693) (35,682)
Shareholders’ funds BEREE 16,931 11,942

AP BEBRRER-_EZERF+T_A=-+=H%E
EESHERTETNZ -

These financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 23 December 2005.

Xie Xuan Ho Wing Yiu
L DES
Director Director
EE EE

The notes on pages 50 to 104 form part of these financial FLE0EZR104E 2 MEB A ERET 2 — 6
statements. o
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BALANCE SHEET EE&BER

At 31 December 2004 R=_ZEZEE{+—-F=+—H

2004 2003
—EEFNE —EE=F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B EE F#ET FET
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Non-current assets ERHEE
Interests in subsidiaries LN RNG P 16 1 14,082
Current liabilities mEERE
Accruals and other payables FEIRERA R HMEMIRMK (781) (486)
Total assets less current liabilities & ER R E & (780) 13,596
Non-current liabilities FERENEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAS K B A B FRIE 16 (4,141) (1,824)
Net (liabilities)/assets (BR) BEZHE (4,921) 11,772
Capital and reserves % 2R K {8
Share capital i/' & 21 47,624 47,624
Reserves fEE 23 (52,545) (35,852)
Shareholders’ (deficit)/funds BREE (B4l &% (4,921) 11,772

These financial statements were approved and authorised for AP HBRRER—BZERF+-_A=+=HE

issue by the Board of Directors on 23 December 2005. EESERRENE -
Xie Xuan Ho Wing Yiu
i DES
Director Director
EE -

The notes on pages 50 to 104 form part of these financial FE0EZ104E 2B KRk 2z —
statements. il
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY &GS ESEEHRER

For the year ended 31 December 2004 #Z ==

EMFEFZ/A=1—HIFE

Issued Capital
share Share redemption Capital Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
E#fT &t AXEE &% git
k% e fiE 1] B @t
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TExn TEx TA7x TAxn TEx TEn
(Note 21) (Note 23)
(Hiz21) (Hi#23)
At 31 December 2002 WZBEZE
TZB=+-H 47624 86,907 800 26,020 (134,800) 26,551
Net loss for the year FREERE - - — - (14,609) (14,609)
At 31 December 2003 R-ZB=F
+ZA=1-H 47624 86,907 800 26,020 (149,409) 11,942
Transfer to share ERZRNEE
premium — 800 (800) — — —
Waive of loans by BEATHREER
a related party (Note) (&) - - — 9,323 = 9,323
Net loss for the year EREBFE - - - - (4,334) (4,334)
At 31 December 2004 R-FEME
+ZR=t-H 47,624 87,707 - 35,343 (153,743) 16,931
Note: Hitat -

During the year, the loans of approximately HK$43,500,000 (2003:
HK$43,368,000) from the beneficial shareholder of a minority
shareholder of certain subsidiaries, were waived. Consequently, the
Group issued a convertible note with a face value of HK$20,650,000
to the minority shareholder. The convertible note is unsecured, bears
interest at 0.65% per month, and is convertible into shares of Lecture
Kit Company Limited (“LK"), an 80% owned subsidiary, within 12
months from the proposed listing of the shares of LK, or is repayable
upon maturity of the convertible note on 31 January 2006 if not
converted. As a result of these transactions, the Group's net assets
increased by approximately HK$9,323,000.

The notes on pages 50 to 104 form part of these financial
statements.

FR ETHBLARARAZLBRRZEGRRZE
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT Z8IR&RER

For the year ended 31 December 2004 #Z —ZEZEMF+_-A=+—HIFE

2004 2003
—EFME —EE=F
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt &t F#&iT FET
Operating activities MEET
Loss before taxation BRERIE 1B (14,955) (17.428)
Adjustment for: BT S IEFE
Interest income FE WA (8) —
Interest on convertible note payable AR ZEF S 1,754 1,049
Write-back of accounts payable 13 [B] FE {3 BR X (4,063) —
Write-back of unreconciled O T e iRD A A ™M
interbranch balances Feg S (414) =
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BMEREEZ
equipment i 13 1,682 1,474
Impairment of property, plant and ME - BERZE
equipment BAE 13 4,583 —
Amortisation of development costs B8 3% B AN 61 14 372 —
Amortisation of goodwill B2 15 238 —
Negative goodwill on acquisition Wiz B ma 24(b) (129) =
Loss on scrapping of property, ZEAZYE -BER
plant and equipment HEZEER 391 —
Provision for doubtful debts RIREE 2 —
Write off of bad and doubtful debts =R BR B 8H 3,919 =
Gain on disposal of long-term HERHPERER
investment and associate B N Tz g - (600)
Wirite-back of provision from BERBRERE
impairment loss on long-term EiERE
investment — (300)
Operating loss before working capital &E& &2 852
changes KEEE (6,628) (15,805)
Decrease in loans receivable FE W & SRR 2 - 3,113
Increase in accounts receivable JE UK BR SR 42 N (14,166) (27)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, FENFRE ReREAM
deposits and other receivables FEURBR R (3 ) R (352) 83
Increase in amounts from related FE U B8 A R SR IESE AN
companies (26) =
Increase/(decrease) in accounts FEFBRFRIE AN, (O 4)
payable 11,340 (142)
(Decrease)/increase in accruals and FERREARHEME
other payables BRI ORLA) /120 (4,975) 1,081
(Decrease)/increase in advances from ZEF# GB4) N
customers (35) 3¢
Increase in amounts due to directors ~ FE{FE 5 FIE 4N 4,385 —
Decrease in amounts due to related FEAS BEIE 2 B TR IEH
companies (1,936) —
Increase in amounts due to minority FEAS 2 SRR R FRIEE N
shareholders 2,984 —
Cash used in operations KREXKFAES (9,409) (11,644)
Overseas taxation paid B e E - (4)
Net cash outflow from operating CEEBELEZRS
activities piidacke 3] (9,409) (11,648)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT Z8IR&RER

For the year ended 31 December 2004 #Z —ZEZEMF+_-A=+—HIFE

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest income

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

Increase in development costs

Acquisition of a subsidiary

Acquisition/consolidation of
a subsidiary

Proceeds from disposal of long term
investment

Increase in investment deposit

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from
investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Increase in loan from a related
company

Net cash inflow from financing
activities

Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents
at end of year

Analysis of balances of cash and
cash equivalents:
Cash and bank balances

BREFHZHERE

A S WA

BEWE BER
=i

9 3% A 2 35 A

WiE — B E QR

Wi RE— [
MDA

HERPREMERE

RERESEM

BREBFBHZHERN
(FEHh) ¥ 88

METHZHEERE
—BREQFZ
il

MEFHZEHEERNFH
ReRB&FE
EBYRDFEH

REMZRE
RIR&%EY

REXRZRES
RBE&EEY

BeRBR&%EY
RO
BERRITHEER

The notes on pages 50 to 104 form part of these financial

statements.

2004 2003

—EFFONE —ET=F

Note HK$°000 HK$°000
Fit et F#T TET
8 —
13 (2,027) (239)
14 (1,352) —
24(a) 5,128 —
24(b) 278 —
24(c) 300 600
- (2,262)
2,335 (1,901)

- 691

- 691
(7,074) (12,858)

14,258 27,116

7,184 14,258

7,184 14,258
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Asian Information Resources (Holdings) Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 4 October
1999 under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The shares of the Company have been listed on
the Growth Enterprise Market (“"GEM") of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
since 16 December 1999.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of on-
line content information and related technical services,
information technology solutions and consultancy services,
educational content services and logistic services.

In the opinion of the Directors, the ultimate holding
company is Asian Dynamics International Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

IMPACT OF RECENTLY ISSUED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
has issued a number of new Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting
Standards, herein collectively referred to as the new
HKFRSs, which are generally effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005. The Group
has not early adopted these new HKFRSs in the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2004.

The Group has commenced considering the potential
impact of the new HKFRSs and has so far concluded that
the adoption of HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment’ HKFRS
3 "Business combinations” HKAS 1 “Presentation of
financial statements’, HKAS 17 “Lease’, HKAS 32
“Financial instruments: Disclosure and presentation’,
HKAS 36 “Impairment of assets’| HKAS 38 “Intangible
assets’ and HKAS 39 “Financial instruments: Recognition
and measurement” will have impacts on the financial
statements of the Group.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

2. IMPACT OF RECENTLY ISSUED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Contd)

The Group will continue with the assessment of the

impact of the other new HKFRSs and other significant

changes may be identified as a result.

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation

(i)

(ii)

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and comply
with accounting standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. The financial
statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention.

The Group sustained a loss from ordinary
activities attributable to shareholders of
HK$4,334,000 during the year and had net
current liabilities and shareholders’ funds of
approximately HK$574,000 and HK$16,931,000
respectively as at 31 December 2004.

The financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon the financial support of a
substantial shareholder, who agreed to provide
not more than HK$12,000,000 to finance the
working capital requirements of the Group; and

HEREEMBRERENZHE (@)

REESBBETHEMHTBYBRE
HR2HE  URAEEEMER 2
hEREEH -

FEEBR

(a) HwREE

(i)

LEFBRRDZBERE
BRAZ2ETEARBRE
BESMASEM ST E
B &8 A EMRE 2K ER
EfRR - MBHRIIEESL
BAEERE

AEEBRFRAERREWLR
H ¥ ET184,334,00058 7T
MR-_ZEZENF+=-A=+
—AZRBEEFERRRE
% ¢ 85 Bl#574,00058 7Tt &
16,931,000 T °

LEMBRERDRSEEE
R ZEEZBARMEER
R-EBFTERRZHHX
¥ 2EIERRCEEAZREMH
T i#8812,000,00078 T B4
RAEEETTERME
2R

| —zzmeeg D



am

Asian Infor mation Resources (Holdings) Limited
R () A R A R

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

(a)

Basis of preparation (Contd)

(iii)
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On 1 February 2004, the Group acquired Ever
OK International Forwarding Co., Ltd.
("EverOK"). After the acquisition, the Directors
became aware that the accounting records of
EverOK and subsidiaries (the “EverOK Group")
were not as complete or reliable as anticipated
and several key accounting staff left the EverOK
Group. The Directors also became aware that
the accounts receivable and accounts payable
ledgers of the EverOK Group contained errors
and omissions and a number of balances
included in the ledgers were incorrect. The
Group allocated significant resources for more
than nine months in an attempt to identify and
correct the errors by reconstructing the
balances based on the verification work
performed subsequent to the year end date
relating to the payment and receipt of funds
up to 30 September 2005 applicable to the
payables and receivables respectively. Owing
to the time and manpower constraints, there
were unreconciled net differences of
HK$3,919,000 amongst accounts receivable
and correspondingly there were unreconciled
net differences of HK$4,063,000 amongst
accounts payable. These net differences on
accounts receivable and accounts payable were
written off as bad and doubtful debts and other
income to the income statement during the
year respectively.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

(b)

(c)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2004. The results
of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are consolidated from or to their effective dates
of acquisition or disposal, respectively. Minority
interests represent the interests of outside
shareholders in the results and net assets of the
Company's subsidiaries.

All significant intercompany transactions and
balances within the Group are eliminated on
consolidation.

The gain or loss on disposal of subsidiary represents
the difference between the proceeds of the sale and
the Group's share of its net assets together with
any unamortised goodwill or negative goodwill and
which was not previously charged or recognised in
the income statement.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is a company whose financial and
operating polices the Company controls, directly or
indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the
Company’'s income statement to the extent of
dividends received and receivable. The Company's
interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

(d)

(e)
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Related parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has
the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other
party or exercise significant influence over the other
party in making financial and operating decisions.
Parties are also considered to be related if they are
subject to common control or common significant
influence. Related parties may be individuals or
corporate entities.

Goodwill/Negative goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiary or
business represents the excess of the cost of the
acquisition over the Group's share of the fair values
of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired as
at the date of acquisition. Negative goodwill arising
on the acquisition of subsidiary or business
represents the excess of the Group’s share of the
fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities
acquired as at the date of acquisition, over the cost
of the acquisition.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised in the
consolidated balances sheet as an asset and
amortised on the straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life. To the extent that negative
goodwill relates to expectations of future losses and
expenses that are identified in the acquisition plan
and that can be measured reliably, but which do not
represent identifiable liabilities as at the date of
acquisition, that portion of negative goodwill is
recognised as income in the income statement
when the future losses and expenses are
recognised.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

(e)

Goodwill/Negative goodwill (Contd)

To the extent that negative goodwill does not relate
to identifiable expected future losses and expenses
as at the date of acquisition, negative goodwill is
recognised in the consolidated income statement
on a systematic basis over the remaining average
useful life of the acquired depreciable/amortisable
assets. The amount of any negative goodwill in
excess of the fair values of the acquired non-
monetary assets is recognised as income
immediately.

On disposal of subsidiaries, the gain or loss on
disposal is calculated by reference to the net assets
at the date of disposal, including the attributable
amount of goodwill/negative goodwill remains
unamortised/has not been recognised in the income
statement as appropriate.

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed annually
and written down for impairment when it is
considered necessary. A previously recognised
impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed unless
the impairment loss was caused by a specific
external event of an exceptional nature that was not
expected to recur, and subsequent external events
have occurred which have reserved the effect of that
event.

3.

FEETBR (@)

(e)

HEBEE (@

fisf S B I FF RN NS Bz TR
RIEBAREBRERFAAAE - A&
BEEMBBTINE TTHEEE
Z R EHFE AR RS
mEBERAER - FAEHEE
BT FE R EEN T EEZE
BRI BRA -

HEMBL AR HEREIEE
D2EHEERZFEENE 8
FBNARBREREHE I Z2HE
SEBEBZEAEE (WMEARA) -

BEZRAESFER X IR
ARV ERETTRBMEZRER © BRI
EBERDEEMITEBREZEE
BENREMHFEIZ - BEREE
ZHRBEBEEZSEHZEE
BRLHCEIAZBEREBET
SWED -

| —zzmeaeg DD



am

Asian Infor mation Resources (Holdings) Limited
R () A R A R

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

(f)
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Impairment of assets

An assessment is made at each balance sheet date
of whether there is any indication of impairment of
any asset, or whether there is any indication that an
impairment loss previously recognised for an asset
in prior years may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's
recoverable amount is calculated as the higher of
the asset's value in use and its net selling price.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is charged to the income
statement in the period in which it arises.

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of an
asset, however not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of depreciation or amortisation), had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
credited to the income statement in the period in
which it arises.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

(g)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an asset comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use. Expenditure incurred after the asset
has been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the income
statement in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that
the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the
future economic benefits expected to be obtained
from the use of the property, plan, and equipment,
the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost
of that asset.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each asset over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purposes are as follows:
Land and buildings 2% (over the remaining
lease term)
Leasehold improvements  33% or over the lease

terms, whichever is

shorter
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Computer and equipment  33%
Motor vehicles 33%

The gain or loss on disposal or retirement of a
property, plant, and equipment recognised in the
income statement is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

3. EEERIBR @)

(g)

M - BERRIE

M - BERRETIURANE R
TEREMRBERSESIR - EEX
NMEBEEBEERENEEEE
FAEAMRER M EERERERZ
BEEESEAE - BERABERE
EZRX  flIEBRRERX -
—RRELHEERERPHE -
BB AZEAXHEERAER
R - MERRBEFAEZ
BN IEM - BIZIA WS WE
R BZEEZMMEA o

WEDRBEEE M AERSE
ML EREEMIEEKATTE o 5t

HARBAZETEFEMT :

T REFE 2% (REATHEH)

HEWELELE 33%=HILMAE
LBEER%E

BRAREE 20%

BN RE  33%

RE 33%

HERRAWE BERRB2ZE
wmIERBEEE 2 HEMBBRAF
MEHREE =8 YRERR
MR o

| —zznsss D/



am

Asian Infor mation Resources (Holdings) Limited
R () A R A R

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

3.
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(h)

(i)
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Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the income
statement as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
projects are clearly defined; the expenditure is
separately identifiable and can be measured reliably;
there is reasonable certainty that the projects are
technically feasible; and the products have
commercial value. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expected when
incurred.

Development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised, using the
straight-line method, over the expected useful lives
of the underlying products subject to a maximum
period of three years, commencing from the date
when the products are available for use.

The unamortised balance of development costs is
reviewed at the end of each year and is written off
to the extent that the unamortised balance, taken
together with further development and directly
related costs, is no longer likely to be recovered.

Receivables
Provision is made against receivables to the extent

they are considered to be doubtful. Receivables in
the balance sheet are stated net of such provision.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

(i)

(k)

Government grants

Government grants are assistance by Government
in the form of transfer of resources in return for the
Company’s compliance to the conditions attached
thereto. Government grant which represents
compensation for the cost of an asset, will be
deducted from the cost of the asset in arriving at its
carrying value to the extent of the amounts received
and receivable as at the date of the balance sheet.
Any excess of the amount of grant received or
receivable over the cost of the asset at the balance
sheet date will be carried forward as advance
receipts to set off future cost of the asset.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation,
legal or constructive, has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
and provided that a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation. When the effect of
discounting is material, the amount recognised of a
provision is the present value at the balance sheet
date of the future expenditure expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in the finance costs in
the income statement.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

n

(m)

(n)
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Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Rentals payable
to such operating leases are charged to the income
statement on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand and demand deposits, and short term highly
liquid investments which are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Group’s cash management.

Taxation

Taxation comprise current and deferred tax. Taxation
is recognised in the income statement, or in equity
if it related to items that are recognised in the same
or a different period directly in equity.

The current tax payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as
reported in the income statement because it
excludes items of income or expenses that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group's liability for current taxation is calculated
using taxation rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

(n)

(o)

Taxation (Contd)

Deferred taxation is provided in full, using the liability
method, on all temporary differences at the balance
sheet date between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements. Taxation rates enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date are used to
determine deferred taxation.

Deferred taxation is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries
except where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when
the revenue can be measured reliably, on the
following bases:

(i)  from the provision of content information, on
a time proportion basis for the fixed licence
fee portion and as entitlement accrues on
usage for the variable license fee portion.
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(o)

(p)
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Revenue recognition (Contd)

(i) from the provision of project consultancy

services, internet solution services,
educational content services and logistic
services in accordance with the terms of the
underlying contracts and when the underlying

services are rendered.

(i) interest income, on a time-proportion basis,
taking into account the principal outstanding
and the effective interest rates applicable.

Advance payments received from customers prior
to rendering of related content information services
and internet solution services are recorded as
receipts in advance.

Revenue is recorded net of sales surtaxes, where
applicable.

Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the
applicable rates of exchange ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are
translated at the applicable rates of exchange ruling
at that date. Exchange differences are dealt with in
the income statement.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

(p)

(a)

Foreign currency translation (Contd)

The Group prepares consolidated financial
statements in Hong Kong dollars. On consolidation,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s oversea
operations are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the applicable rates of exchange ruling at the balance
sheet date. The income and expense items are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the average
exchange rates for the year. The resulting translation
differences are included in the exchange fluctuation
reserve.

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave and long
service leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.
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(a)
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Employee benefits (Contd)

(ii) Retirement benefits schemes

The Group’s PRC subsidiaries participate in
defined contribution retirement schemes
organised by the local government authorities
in the PRC. All of the PRC employees are
entitled to an annual pension equivalent to a
fixed portion of their basic salaries at their
retirement dates. The Company’'s PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain
percentage ranged from 11% to 15% of the
basic salaries of their PRC employees to the
retirement schemes and have no further
obligation for post-retirement benefits. The
contributions are charged to the income
statement of the Group as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the
scheme.

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance, for all of its employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the income statement as
they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group's employer contributions vest
fully with the employees once contributed into
the MPF Scheme.
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3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

(a)

Employee benefits (Contd)

(iii) Share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme
for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. The
financial impact of share options granted under
the share option scheme is not recorded in the
Company's or the Group's balance sheet until
such time as the options are exercised, and no
charge is recorded in the income statement or
balance sheet for their cost. Upon the exercise
of share options, the resulting shares issued
are recorded by the Company as additional
share capital at the nominal value of the shares,
and the excess of the exercise price per share
over the nominal value of the shares is
recorded by the Company in the share premium
account. Options which are cancelled prior to
their exercise date, or which lapse, are deleted
from the register of outstanding options.

3.

FEETBR (@)

(a)

EI#&EMN &

(iii) FERR#ESTE]

ARBRRBROREAE
ERNEEFHERZEE
KBEEMRE—EERE
8 o RIBBRET SR
BREZMBESEEBRE
ETEATSFARRAR
rEEZEERER  TF
EREERIEEAGERHT
BRERA - REBIREETE
- BUBRITZROGHES
DRAERD ZEEARAE
SIMRA - BRITEBBEER
NEEZFRBEHAQFTLA
RSB o T E B ATEE
8 (FHRR) 2 BRER KT
150 8 AR P T 5 R ARBR o

| —zzmeeg 6D



Asian Information Resources (Holdings) Limited
) i ERUE (B A R A F

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

4.

66 Annual Report 2004 |

SEGMENT INFORMATION

In accordance with the Group's internal financial reporting,
the Group has determined that business segments be
presented as the primary reporting format and
geographical segment as the secondary reporting format.

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and
managed separately, according to the nature of their
operations and the products and services they provide.
Each of the Group's business segments represents a
strategic business unit that offers products and services
which are subject to risks and returns that are different
from those of the other business segments. Summary
details of the business segments are as follows:

(a) the content solution

(b) the IT enabling technology

(c) the educational content services

(d) the logistic services

In determining the Group’s geographical segments,
revenues are attributed to the segments based on the
location of the customers, and assets are attributed to
the segments based on the location of the assets.

Unallocated costs represent corporate expenses.
Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and
equipment, receivables and operating cash, and mainly
exclude corporate cash balances and property, plant and
equipment. Segment liabilities comprise operating
liabilities and exclude items such as taxation and corporate
accrual charges. Capital expenditure comprises additions
to property, plant and equipment.

SEBEF

REAEE 2z ABHBHRS - AERES
REUFEB DR ETERERN > Uit
EBDEMBRERERN o

FEBREE2EKBNRBEAEE 2
BRFRREzEREREIRABRE
B AEERRBOMERRERZE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Contd) 4.

(a)

Primary reporting format

An analysis of the Group's results by business

(a)

— business segments

SEER (E
FEREBX - XHEHB

REBXEREB DI 220

segment is as follows: T :
2004
k- 2 U2
HK$'000
FEx
IT  Educational
Content enabling content Logistic
solution  technology services services Total
MEHE ElRE BERE Wik
BARR 3585301 B %5 BR 5 CH
Turnover 3]
Sales to external AAREFHE
customers 855 403 366 207,850 209,474
Results ES |
Segment results PHEE (113) (10) (7876) (1,296) (9,295)
Interest income FMEBA 53
Forfeiture of deposit on RUBEENERS
purchase of property 9,545
Unallocated corporate RS BEEHY
expenses (13,504)
Loss from operating activities ~ REEKER (13,201)
Finance costs MERA (1,754)
Loss hefore taxation BB AIER (14,955)
Taxation B (2,955)
Loss before minority Rt D ERFRER
interests AR (17910)
Minority interests DYRRER 13,576
Net loss from ordinary BRREMBE
activities attributable to EHERTE

shareholders

(4,334)
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Contd)

(a)
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Primary reporting format — business segments

(Contd)

Assets
Segment assets

Unallocated corporate
assets

Total assets

Liabilities
Segment liabilities

Unallocated corporate
liabilities

Total liabilities

Other segment information
Capital expenditure

Write-back of accounts payable

Write-back of unreconciled
inter-branch balances
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Impairment of property,
plant and equipment
Amortisation of
development costs
Amortisation of goodwill
Provision for doubtful debt
Write off of bad and
doubtful debt

BE
PHEE

R B
REEE

REE

m
=
nkk
Smir
SR

%‘.

A T

[ =
o
N

\
/

STORF
e
5158
2

Ao HBEH
BARx
EAERRERE
BEFRHED

NEREE
n%  BERRE
ZHE

nE - BERRE
BE
GEEES £
BESE

R R
REEME

SEER (E

(a) EEREEN — KB (&)

2004
—BTmE
HK$'000
Tir
IT  Educational
Content enabling content Logistic
solution  technology services services Total
MERE  EWER  HEAR Wik

BRAR  REHH BR5 BR#5 4t

895 1,561 39,296 34,847 76,599

2,339

78,938
(3,307) (1,848) (25,227) (25,113) (55,495)
(4,292)
(59,787)

— 755 — 1,272 2,027
— — — (4,063) (4,063)
— — — (414) (414)

129 388 559 606 1,682

— — 4,583 — 4,583

— 372 — — 372

— — — 238 238

— 2 — — 2

— — — 3,919 3,919




i ERUE (B A R A F

am
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Contd) 4. HBWEHE (A
(a) Primary reporting format — business segments (a) EEBHREBRN — EHBSE B
(Contd)
2003
It o %3
HK$'000
T
IT Educational
Content enabling content Logistic
solution technology services services Total
AEfE AARE  BEAF Wik
BAAR  REHEH R R @zt
Turnover EEH
Sales to external customers  [ASNREFHE 562 434 148 - 1,144
Results £
Segment results PEEE (1,109) (1,813) (2,749) — (5,671)
Interest income FEBA 169
Unallocated corporate RN EEERY
expenses (10,877)
Loss from operating activities &= % (16,379)
Finance costs MERR (1,049)
Loss before taxation BB AT EE (17428)
Taxation B —
Loss before minority R DERRER
interests BIE#E (17428)
Minority interests DERRER 2,819
Net loss from ordinary BRRELEE
activities attributable to $EEBTH
shareholders (14,609)

—zznsss 09
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Contd)

4. SEEH (&)

(a) Primary reporting format — business segments (a) EEBHREBRN — EHBSE B
(Contd)
2003
It o %3
HK$'000
T
IT Educational
Content enabling content Logistic
solution technology services services Total
AEHE AR BEAF Wik
BAAR  REHEH R R @zt
Assets aE
Segment assets PHEE 674 2,808 44,953 — 48,435
Unallocated corporate KD E2
assets SEEE 14,346
Total assets BEE 62,781
Liabilities Bff
Segment liabilities AREE ©60)  (1.126)  (47420) — (49,506)
Unallocated corporate ReEDHE
liabilities SEAR (867)
Total liabilities BEAH (50,373)
Other segment information ~ Eft 7} &#
Capital expenditure EXEX 28 52 159 — 239
Depreciation of property, NE BERSEZINE
plant and equipment 86 131 1,257 — 1,474

70 Annual Report 2004 |



Asian Information Resources (Holdings) Limited
) i ERUE (B A R A F
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Contd) 4. SBEH F)
(b) Secondary reporting format — geographical (b) HRERERNX — HEHE

segments

An analysis of the Group's results by geographical REFBXERMED 22 H a0

segment is as follows: T

Segment Segment Capital

Turnover results assets expenditure
EXH SBER NHEE BFRX

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
CEENE CTR=F -BENF _R=F ZFENE —23-F Z¥ENE —2R=F
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Fé#r TEr TEx TEzr TEr  TEr  TEn  FEx

Hong Kong 5% 2,651 1,144 (5,552) (3,330 10,179 9,992 766 92
The PRC H 200,317 — (16,361) (2,279) 65,594 52,646 1,107 147
USA ESE 6,506 — (777) - 3,166 — 154 —
Taiwan e - — - (62) - 143 = =
209,474 1,144 (22,690) (5,671) 78,939 62,781 2,027 239
Interest income FEBA 53 169
Forfeiture of deposit RREENFRS
on purchase of property 9,545 —
Unallocated corporate REFBEEERY
expenses (109)  (10,877)
Loss from operating REXEER
activities (13,201) (16,379)
Finance costs BERR (1,754) (1,049)
Loss before taxation BB RIE B (14,955)  (17428)
Taxation HE (2,955) =
Loss before minority Rt DERRER
interests AIEE (179100 (17429)
Minority interests DERRER 13,576 2,819
Net loss from ordinary RERELBE
activities attributable to ERERFE
shareholders (4,334)  (14,609)

| —zznsss /]
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

5. TURNOVER AND OTHER REVENUE 5. ZXEFRHMUE
Turnover represents (1) project fees from the provision EEEENWRMHEEERREZEE
of project consultancy services; (2) distribution fees from B, QRERBEANZBZEE 3R
the provision of content information; (3) service fees from MEBRARATRREZREE : 4) R
the provision of internet solution services; (4) service fees HHUBEANBRBEZRBE : k() RHEY
from the provision of educational content services; and REREZREE  RTIEEEERAR
(5) service fees from the provision of logistic services BZRXH5WT :

and excludes intra-Group transactions as follows:

Turnover

Content solution service

— project fees

— distribution fees
Internet solution service fees
Educational content

service fees
Logistic service fees

Other revenue

Forfeiture of deposit on
purchase of property
Wirite-back of accounts payable
(Note 3(a)(iii))
Other income
Insurance compensation
Refund of compensation
on legal cases
Reimbursement of salaries
Management fee income
Wirite-back of unreconciled
interbranch balances
Negative goodwill
on acquisition
Interest income
Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of long-term
investment and associate
Write-back of provision
for impairment loss on
long-term investment

2004 2003
—EENF —EE=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEIT FET
I $0]
A {2 E R 7%
—BEHE 240 254
— BB 615 308
BHMERRL RREE 403 434
HENRREE
366 148
YIm R I% & 207,850 —
209,474 1,144
Hfth iy 25
REBEYMERZRS
9,545 —
B[O FE 4 BR =X
BitEE (3(a)liii) 4,063 =
=i N 2,118 —
R B B {E 2,304 —
EERHEEERR
573 —
HFeRBANHEE 633 =
EEBUIA 489 —
BE TEEE BR o D Al &Sk
414 —
RUEER - amE
129 —
FE U A 53 169
HERE - WERRE2WE
8 _
HERBRERKE QR 2 W=
- 600
BREORPRERESERE
— 300
20,329 1,069
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

6. LOSS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 6.

The Group's loss from operating activities is arrived at

after charging:

Cost of services provided
Staff costs (excluding directors’
remuneration)
Wages and salaries
Unutilised annual leave
Retirement benefits scheme
contributions
Auditors’ remuneration
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Impairment of property, plant and
equipment
Amortisation of development costs
Amortisation of goodwill
Loss on scrapping of property,
plant and equipment
Operating lease rentals in respect
of land and buildings
Provision for doubtful debts
Write off of bad and doubtful
debts (Note 3(a)(iii))
Compensation on legal cases
Legal fees
Net exchange loss

7. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on convertible note payable
(Note 20)

EEEBER

FEBEEXEBERDEHKRT ISR

B/
2004 2003
—TEnmE —EE=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T FET
125 iR 7% AR AR 197,011 181
EIRAN (FEREEEM)
IERFE 14,033 5,199
AXAFER 78 189
BRIREFIET B
966 274
Z AN & 655 386
ME- - BERXEZITE
1,682 1,474
ME  BERREBRE
4,583 —
B 2% BR 7 4 8 372 —
5k E 238 —
BERZYE  BE
REEZEER 391 —
THRIETF
ZRERHHES 3,376 1,797
REREE 2 —
R4 BR A 6H
(Kt &% 3(a) i) 3,919 —
SEERARE 1,913 131
EEEH 2,688 881
B+ EEFEEE 193 68
7. BIERE
2004 2003
—EENF —EE=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#T FET
ERTREREEZFE
(KfaE20) 1,754 1,049

—zEnEsg /3
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8.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

From 1 December 2000, the Group has arranged for its
Hong Kong employees to join the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”). The MPF Scheme is
a defined contribution scheme managed by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF scheme, each of
the Group’s employees makes monthly contribution to
the scheme at 5% of the employees’ earning as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation, subject
to a cap of HK$1,000 per month and thereafter
contributions are voluntary.

For the year ended 31 December 2004, the aggregate
amount of employer’s contributions made by the Group
to the MPF scheme was approximately HK$225,000
(2003: HK215,000).

As stipulated by the rules and regulations in the PRC, the
subsidiaries and representative offices in the PRC are
required to contribute to a state-sponsored retirement
plan for their employees in the PRC. According to the
rules prevailing in the PRC, the Group is required to
contribute approximately 11% to 15% of the basic salary
of its employees in the PRC, and has no further obligations
for the actual pension payments or post-retirement
benefits. The state-sponsored retirement plan is
responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to
retired employees. For the year ended 31 December 2004,
approximately HK$752,000 (2003: HK$71,000) was paid
by the Group with respect to such retirement plan.

BEFIFTE

BE-ZEEF+-A—HE FxEEZ
HEBEESHEHBFHMABSTE (&
BestEll) - BESTEBREHEMK
T8 ABURTAETE - RiFEES
e AEBzEEEAYEERER
BEEZWA (EEREHMEAESIEH)
5% ¥ s BIMEH MR - HE A S
1,000/8 T H LR - 2 HERBIBERE
HH -

BE-_TZNE+-_A=+—HLHF
B AEEHRESTTEEE 2 EE 4
RHEEHN £225,000 BT (ZEE=F :
215,000587T) °

REPEEERE  PEZHBATR
REMJEEEOATEREEMIEZEH
REBBRNGTEMELHR - REFER
T30 ZEBERETRESEARS
2H11%E15%EHERR - MEEEMA
ERERETHBRKEEFRBEAE
HEMAE - BEREEZMERKEX
HEI R ERE B 2 BIKGTEIRE - BZE
—EENE+ZA=1+—HLEFEE &
EEH LM BRFEELEZHEANE
752,000 T (ZEZE=4F : 71,0008
JT) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ 9.
REMUNERATION

(a)

Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ remuneration for the year, as required to
be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and
Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, is as follows:

Fees we
Other emoluments: HME £ :
Basic salaries, housing HEAXEH < - BEEE -

allowances, other allowances HEE R
and benefits in kind BV R
Retirement benefits scheme EIRERIETEIHER

contributions

The emoluments of directors fell within the following
bands:

ESRBERITRASME

(a)

EE#E

REERBRAIER EHRBKEE
REAMRPIBIREATHREZES

MEmT :

2004 2003
—ETNEF —EBE=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEIT FET
95 124
4,320 4,320
12 24
4,427 4,468

BRAUTHBE 2ESME -

Number of director

EEAH
2004 2003
—ETTHE —E2E=F
Executive directors HITES
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 jt 22,500,000 Jt 2 2
Non-executive directors FHTES
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000 T 2 3
Independent non-executive BYKHITES
directors
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000/ T 4 3
8 8
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9.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’
REMUNERATION (Contd)

(a)
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Directors’ remuneration (Contd)

The two executive directors of the Company
received emoluments of approximately
HK$2,172,000 (2003: HK$2,172,000) and
HK$2,160,000 (2003: HK$2,172,000) for the year
ended 31 December 2004.

The two non-executive directors of the Company
received individual fees of approximately HK$42,000
and HK$24,000 for the year ended 31 December 2004
and three non-executive directors of the Company
received individual fees of HK$22,000, HK$12,000 and
HK$1,000 for the year ended 31 December 2003. There
were no other emoluments payable to the non-
executive directors during the year (2003: Nil).

The four independent non-executive directors of the
Company received individual fees of approximately
HK$12,000, HK$12,000, HK$4,500 and Nil for the
December 2004 and three
independent non-executive directors of the

year ended 31

Company received individual fees of HK$44,000,
HK$44,000 and HK$1,000 for the year ended 31
December 2003. There were no other emoluments
payable to the independent non-executive directors
during the year (2003: Nil).

There were no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year (2003: Nil).

There were no emolument paid by the Group to
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office
during the year (2003: Nil).

9.

ESERERITHAEME (&)

(a)

ESME (@)

KATMBHTESREE_SZ
ME+-—A=+—HLEFERKRERY
2,172,000 T (ZBZ=F :
2,172,00078 7t) % 2,160,000 T
(ZZEZ=% :2,172,00087T) Z

RRABMEFPTESHREE=Z
FNFE+ZA=+ - B LEFERR
#42,0007% 7T K& 24,0007 7T Z & A
HBE  MARA=BFHAITESH
BE-EE=-F+-A=+—HL
FEYE22,000/% T ~ 12,000/ 7T
%1,000/8 T 2 AABE o FAH
BHMWENTHRATESzME
(Z2Z2=F ' 8 -

AAFNBBLFHTEERESR
—ETMFF+_A=+—HILLFE
2 BIWEL12,0008 7T ~ 12,0008
JT 45008 TREETZEAAR
& MARR=ZBBEILIHTES
MBE_ZEE=F+=-A=+—H
LIEFEUWEL44,00078 7T ~ 44,0008
TR1,0008TZ2BAEE - FR
BERMENTFEIFNTES
e (CEZ=F: 8|) -

FRAMEEMZHMESTHELR
EYRZHREEAHE (CZ2EZ=
FLE) e

FR - AEBIWESNHEERN
BREYBMBBETESE C2F
=F 8-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ 9. EERBRITHAEME &)
REMUNERATION (Contd)

(b) Five highest paid employees (b) Afik=E#HES
The five highest paid employees during the year FR - AfumeFHEETBEERN
include two (2003: two) executive directors whose (ZEZ=F M) HFITES &
remuneration are set out in directors’ remuneration ErvMeHEIN L @QESZ#ME
in (a) above. Details of remuneration of the remaining —fc FREZFFHEHBKH=N (=
three (2003: three) employees are as follows: EE=F =) EEZHNEFS
mE
2004 2003
—ETOEFE —EE=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Basic salaries, housing HEX¥He€  FBE 1,628 1,278
allowances, other allowances JERE ~ HAh)ERL
and benefits in kind REWR=
Retirement benefits scheme BIRE R EIHERK 36 30

contributions

1,664 1,308

The emoluments fell within the following band: MENFUTEHR :

Number of highest
paid individuals

mREHEEAY
2004 2003
—TENE —EE=F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 3 3
There were no emoluments paid by the Group to FR - RNEBEWESZ S SIELRM
the employees as an inducement to join or upon BREIEBHETEE (CZF
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of =F 8| o

office during the year (2003: Nil).
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10. TAXATION

(a)
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Taxation charged to the consolidated income
statement represents:

B -

Current:
PRC income tax

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided (2003:
Nil) as the Group has no assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong during the year. The statutory tax rate
for Hong Kong profits tax is 17.56% (2003: 17.56%) on
the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable
elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax
prevailing in the countries in which the Group
based on existing

operates, legislation,

interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

For the year ended 31 December 2004, the statutory
corporate income tax rates applicable to the
subsidiaries established and operating in the PRC
was 33%.

Bl {3 AT IS B

10. #HIE

(a)

REERBERMNBFZRESHE -

Group

AN
2004 2003
—RYME  —BT=%F
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FHETT
2,955 —

HREAEERFATEEBLBESE
FERFURA - MUY EBEHE BRI
BHRBECEE=F 1 8) - R
EEBEL AT EFEREFN 2B
BREBHEERER175% (=F
T=F :117.5%) o HfthEER
Boaf BB RBEAEELE
KER2BABE RRITEBE
il - REREFIFE -

BE-ZENMF+-A=+—HI
FE > BAREFBRIREE 2
WEBARZEELEFRSHRHTERA
33% o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

10. TAXATION (Contd)

(b)

(c)

10. #HIE (&

A reconciliation of the tax change/(credit) applicable

to the Group's loss before taxation using the

statutory rates for the countries in which the

Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled to the

tax change/(credit) at the effective tax rates are as

follows:

Loss before taxation

Tax credit calculated at
Hong Kong profits tax
rate of 17.5%

Effect of different tax rates
of subsidiaries operating
in other jurisdictions

Income not subject to tax

Expenses not deductible
for tax purposes

Utilisation of previously
unrecognised tax losses

Unrecognised temporary
differences and tax losses

Others

Taxation charge for the year

(b) TBADNRAKREMBARFFERZRZ
SEER R EIE A RAER 2 R
AIBEZHESE (K&R) - 8
EEBREFECHRESH (ER)
ZHAEROT
Group
XEH
2004 2003
—“ETNEF —EBE=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FH#ET FET
RR 7% A E5 18 (14,955) (17.428)
REBHNEBHRHRE
17.5%5t & 2 Fi18E
i) (2,617) (3,050)
REMBEEEEE
2B QAR ERE
ZEE (7,014) —
BEHT WA (22) (30)
TREHIFL 2B
11,795 =
B AR RERFIE
B8 (41) (168)
RERTRERER
BiIgE 18 1,203 3,248
HAi (349) —
FRZHELXH 2,955 —
(c) M=ZBEENE+=-A=+—H &

As at 31 December 2004, the Group had tax losses
arising in Hong Kong of HK$12,131,000 (2003:
HK$12,131,000) that were available for offsetting
against future taxable profits. Such losses may be

carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset

has been recognised in respect of such losses due

to unpredicatbility of future profit streams.

EEREBELERBE B
12,131,000 T (ZEE =4 :

12,131

,00087T) » Al AR 85K

RERBURN - ZSERAERY

o

B A S 5% FEDRI oK 28 I 2R

R I E R 2 S R IR IR A
BIEEE °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

11. NET LOSS FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

The net loss from ordinary activities attributable to
shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2004 dealt
with in the financial statements of the Company was
approximately HK$16,693,000 (2003: HK$14,779,000)
(Note 23).

12. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on:

Losses i
Net loss from ordinary ARGTESR
activities attributable HEAREBEZ
to shareholders used REESLAE
in the basic loss per XEERFE

share calculation

Shares % 13
Weighted average number RARTESR
of ordinary shares BEAREBEZF
in issue during the year ABERTERER
used in the basic loss Z MFEF T

per share calculation

A diluted loss per share amount for the year ended 31
December 2004 has not been disclosed as no diluting
events subsisted during the year (2003: Nil).

11.

12.

IR R FE 1L B H £ E51RF8H

RAAABE-SEMF+=A=+-
AL SR RATE 2 R A%
KIS IRFHRA16,603,00087 (T
=4 114,779,000/ ) (Bfat23) °

Bz EiE

BREXNBRDIRBEUATEETE

2004 2003
—BPME  —BT=F
HK$000 HK$000
FHT FET
(4,334) (14,609)

Number of shares

e
2004 2003
—EENF —EE=

476,237,105 476,237,105

HREEZ-ZTENF+-A=+t—HL
FEWEBEFEMH  AUALBREZF
Ez8RBEFRE CEE=F ' 8) -
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. 1% - BERRE
Group xEE
Land Furniture Computer
and Leasehold and and Motor
buildings  improvements fixtures equipment vehicles Total
1HREF  AENERE RHREE ELYLEL RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEn T TéEn TéEn TAn TéEn
Cost: B
At 1 January 2004 R-EEmE
-A-H 45,747 2571 1,545 4,144 381 h4,388
Additions AE — 743 238 756 285 2,027
Acquisition of a subsidiary  WEKBAT
(Note 24(a)) (B5£24(a)) — 105 270 480 140 995
Disposalsfwrite off e/ - (2317) (1,199) (1,949) - (5,465)

At 31 December 2004 R-EENE
+-B=+-H 45,747 1,107 854 3,431 806 51,945

Accumulated depreciation  BitiE

and impairment; Rt :
At 1 January 2004 RZZEME

-A-H 1,234 2,188 1,426 4,050 381 9.279
Charge for the year REET 930 87 126 355 184 1,682
Impairment loss AEEE 4,583 = = = = 4,583
Disposalsfwite off e/ H - (1,935) (1,190) (1,949) - (5,074)

At 31 December 2004 R-FEME

+-B=+-H 6,747 340 362 2,456 565 10,470
Net book value: REFE:
At 31December 2004  R=FFME
+ZR=+-H 39,000 767 492 975 241 41,475
At 31 December 2003 R-E5=f
+ZB=1-A 44513 383 119 9% - 45,109
The Group's land and buildings are located in the PPC AEBZ L REFHVRFE - LR
and held under land use rights for a period of 50 years up BitihFRAESEERTE  BEE-ZN
to December 2048. The land and buildings are currently NE+ZR AL - T REFEAHE
illegally occupied by a third party. =FIFEMLA -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Contd)

Land and buildings were stated at the Directors’ valuation
by reference to their open market value with vacant
possession as estimated by a firm of professional valuers
as at 31 July 2005 and an impairment loss of
HK$4,583,000 was made.

M BERRDE &

T REFHRESSEEXMEMRN
—EERF A=t B ZAXRY
ZEERRLAHMEREL ZMAE X
EHi4,5683,000/8 T 2 BERBERAR °

14. DEVELOPMENT COSTS 14. BHERE
Group
AEE
HK$'000
FET
Cost: B
Additions IR 2,701
Government grant BN 18 B (1,349)
At 31 December 2004 R-ZEZNFE+=-A=+—H 1,352
Accumulated amortisation: ST ¢
Charge for the year and at AEERR-ZZNF
31 December 2004 +=ZB=+—HB#k 372
Net book value: BREEE -

At 31 December 2004 —EENFEF+-A=+—H 980

The amount represents direct development costs incurred
for the development of “Advanced Distribution and
Transportation Systems” less government grant, and is
amortised on a straight-line basis over three years.

ZRIREMMAB TERENER RS
FrEE 2 EERMBEAA  BBUSHHE
W ABEARED = FH#H -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

15. GOODWILL 15. BE
The amount of goodwill capitalised as an asset in the W IHEBEENGEEEEER
consolidated balance sheet, arising from the acquisition EXRbA—EHEEZHERBENT

of EverOK, is as follows:

Group
AEE
HK$°000
FET
Cost: BN
Acquisition of a subsidiary and KiE—EEARRAR-ZZMEF
at 31 December 2004 (Note 24(a)) +=ZB=+—8 (Etit24(a) 5,182
Accumulated amortisation: - £
Amortisation provided during the year REERR-_ZEZENF
and at 31 December 2004 TZA=t+—BREZ#H 238
Net book value: BREFE -

At 31 December 2004 R-EZNFE+=-A=+—H 4,944
Amortisation charge for the year is included in other FAZHEERANEBERRTAABEME
operating expenses in the income statement. Goodwill EHX c MBIREMGHAEAER20
is amortised over its estimated useful life of 20 years. TG o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16. MIBASH#EXR
Company
AAT
2004 2003
—EENF —EE=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Unlisted shares, at cost FkEmpm  RBE 14,082 14,082
Due from subsidiaries FEUR B B X B FR I8 126,348 126,348
140,430 140,430
Provision for impairment B (140,429) (126,348)
1 14,082
The balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, interest MBARZE&RTEIEHREE BB
free and not due for repayment within the next twelve ERARI2ER REE -
months.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont4d) 16. MIBASIHELR (&

AEEZTEHBADRENT : -

Particulars of the significant subsidiaries of the Group are

as follows:—
Issued and
fully paid Percentage of
Place of share capital/ equity interest
incorporation registered attributable to
and operation capital the Group
Name a8 B 3L & ERTRHARE EEREEN Principal activities
&8 WEWE BA ERER IxHEB L FEEH
Advant Development The British US$10 60% Investment holding
Limited Virgin 103 7T BREZR
Islands
REELES
AIR Logistics The British US$1 100% Holding of trademarks
International Virgin (e BEEE
Holdings Limited Islands
REBELZES
AIR Logistics The British US$1 100%  Provision of consulting,
International Limited Virgin 1%t administrative and
Islands management
RBEZES services
RARER - TBR
EE RS
Asian Educational Hong Kong HK$10,000 40.8% Provision of educational
Services Limited (a) i 10,0007 7T services
RHEHABRE
Asian Information The British US$200 100% Investment holding
Resources (BVI) Virgin 200 7T REZER
Limited (b) Islands
RBELZES

—zEnssg 3D



Asian Information Resources (Holdings) Limited
) i ERUE (B A R A F

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Contd)

Name

&

Asian Information
Resources Limited
MR EERA F

Asian Information
Resources Finance
Limited

Asian Information
Resources
Investment Limited

Place of

incorporation
and operation

o i A 3L X%
EEHES

Hong Kong
7B

Hong Kong
7B

Hong Kong
78

Issued and
fully paid
share capital/
registered
capital
EBITRERE
BA R EREER

HK$11,228,290
11,228,2907& 7T

HK$2
28T

HK$2
28T

16. MIBASI#EL (&

Percentage of
equity interest
attributable to

the Group
AEEE
IxHEB L

Principal activities

FEEH

100% Provision of on-line
content and related
technical services,
information
technology solutions
and consultancy
services, and
e-commerce
investment
RERLLERRERB
Bl RS - BB
iR T3 %= I A RS AR 7%
URETHERE

100% Provision of treasury
functions to group

companies

AEBLQARM

BT E

100% Provision of
administration

services to group

companies

AREERT

RMETBARE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont4d) 16. MIBASIHELR (&

Issued and
fully paid Percentage of
Place of share capital/ equity interest

incorporation registered attributable to
and operation capital the Group

Name a5 8 5 3 & ERTRERE AERBEES Principal activities

&E EEME BA ERER IEE S FEEFR

Asian Information Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% Provision of on-line

Resources Marketing BB 10,0005 7T content and related

Limited technical services

REMALERR

R B8 452 117 AR 7%

Asian Information Hong Kong HK$5,000 100% Provision of software

Resources BB 5,000 7T solutions services

TechLogic Limited RBEHAEERS RRE
DMEEYRAIR

BIRA T

China Cyber Hong Kong HK$2 80% Provision of online

University Limited BB 2787t educational content

RERKXKEZRFRAA services

REALELBENBTRE

Confirm (China) Limited Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 100% Investment holding

ERR (FE) BRAE %% 3,000,000/ T REZR

Cyber Strategy Limited Hong Kong HK$75,000 100% Strategic investment

SR AR A A BB 75,0005 7T holding

RHEREER
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Asian Infor mation Resources (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Contd)

Name

=1

Ever-OK International
Forwarding Co., Ltd.

IHEREREE
BRAF

Ever-OK International
Forwarding Co., Limited

EBEEREE (B8)
BRAF

Ever-OK International
Forwarding Co., Ltd.

Forest Technology
International Limited

AABZEBRERAF

Place of

incorporation
and operation

& 1 A 3L K
A

The PRC
T

Hong Kong
i

The United
States of

America
EEi

Hong Kong
B8

Issued and
fully paid

share capital/

registered
capital

ERTREAE
Bx, &

RMB17,300,000

AR®

17,300,0007T

HK$200,000
200,000 7T

US$200,000
200,000% 7t

HK$10,000
10,0007 7T

Percentage of
equity interest
attributable to

the Group
AEEES
T 5L

60%

60%

60 %

100%

16. MIBASI#EL (&

Principal activities

EEER

Provision of air and

ocean freight
services

REZENSERS

Provision of air and

ocean freight
services

REZENSERY

Provision of air and

Rtz

ocean freight
services

BN BERY

Provision of internet

design and hosting

services

REEBARS

B2 5 17 IR %%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Contd)

Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/

incorporation registered
and operation capital
Name HMEIIR EBTRHEE
a8 WEWE BRA ERER
Lecture Kit Company Hong Kong HK$5,000
Limited B 5,000 Jt
BESRBRLF
Myhome Network Hong Kong HK$900,000
Limited BB 900,000 7t
RPEMEREBERDA
Union Resources Hong Kong HK$10,000,030
(Educational &% 10,000,030/ 7T
Development)
Limited (a)
HEER BEER)
BR2AE(a)
BHeERHBBEHRE The PRC  US$4,819,000
(2B BR DT FE  4,819,000% T
(a) X (c)

16. MIBASIHER (&)

Percentage of
equity interest
attributable to

the Group

AREFE(SL
IHEE L

80%

77.78%

40.8%

40.8%

Principal activities

FEEH

Investment holding and

provision of
on-line educational
content service
REERRRME
HEHERNBRE

Investment holding

REEZER

Investment holding
and provision of
educational content
services
REZRRIRM
HEANB R

Provision of educational

content services

RUEHBERB RS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Contd)

Notes:

(@)  UR and its subsidiaries are subsidiaries of the Group as
the Group's interest in these companies are held through
subsidiaries which in turn hold more than 50% of the
issued voting share capital of these companies, and the
Group has the power to govern the financial and operating
decisions of the these companies.

(b)  Asian Information Resources (BVI) Limited (“AIR BVI”) is
directly held by the Company. All other subsidiaries are
indirectly held by the Company through AIR BVI.

(c) HEERHARREFR)ER2ATF isawholly foreign owned
enterprise established in the PRC for a term of 50 years
up to 2048.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2004 (2003:
Nil).

16. MBASRE (&

BfE:

BAREHEATS AN EE 2 HEA
7 FEASEEELEAT 2 RET
FRMEATSE  MEEHEATS
A LRARE BT ERFRZRAEE
50% * AEEEEEE IS AR 2H
R EERE o

Asian Information Resources (BVI)
Limited (TAIR BVI]) BARQ A E E#
5 mEMAEREAREIHARATE
MBAIR BVIEERH °

BEEFRHBRE BB BRIABRN
HEIRY 2 2INERE  KEHE-T
ONF - BEA+F o

EMEARRBE_SENFE+=A=
T —HLEFETERTEMEEER (=
TE=F M) o

=z
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

17. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

The credit terms granted by the Group to a customer are

determined on a case-by-case basis with reference to the

size of sales contracts, recurring sales with the customers

and their credit history.

The Group makes provision for accounts receivable based

on specific review. Provision is made against accounts

receivable after considering the amount due, creditability

of the customers and other qualitative factors.

An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable of the Group

as at the balance sheet date, was as follows:

Outstanding balances aged:
0 to 30 days
31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
91 to 150 days
Over 150 days

Less: Provision for doubtful debts

RMEBERRAERRE ¢

0ZE30Kk
31E60K
61ZE 90K
91ZE 150Kk
B8 150K

o RAREE

17. FEUGBRRX

FEEREFRHEZEERRTIZZH
EANEH  QREEFFEFERZH
ERREZEERELRERBERERE

7 £ B #2 8 Bl AR 50 0 B WA B R AE H
B EEZRIMEHE FREERHEM
HERRRHBWIRRFELERE

AEBREE R 2R ZER DT
M

Group

AEH
2004 2003
—ETNE —ET=F
HK$000 HK$'000
FH#T FHET
12,126 149
6,312 3
1,575 3
1,107 —
1,966 1,144
23,086 1,299
(1,097) (1,095)
21,989 204
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

18. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

An ageing analysis of the accounts payable of the Group
as at the balance sheet date, based on the date of

completion of services provided by the suppliers to the

Group was as follows:

18. FEfTERER

REHEEDAKEEREERETH 2B
SAEASENGE R 2 BARRZRER

DHWMT -

Group
XEHE
2004 2003
—ETNEF —EE=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Outstanding balances aged: REZRNAEERIRE,
0 to 30 days 0Z£30XK 12,013 —
31 to 60 days 31260k 5,777 —
61 to 90 days 61Z290K 1,587 —
91 to 150 days 912 150K 1,327 —
Over 150 days 150K A £ 1,028 370
21,732 370
19. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 19. FEREBARHfthFEMFRIE
Group Company
AEE EAT
2004 2003 2004 2003
—ETNE —EE=F —ETNE —E2=F
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FExT F#ET FET
Accruals for operating FEIREEMX
expenses 4,452 3,713 781 486
Other payables H {th FE 5 IE 1,91 — = —
Payable for legal and BREER
professional fees HXEBH 477 — — —
Payable for acquisition Wb — 1B A
of a domain name 2 FRIE — 1,415 - —
Interest payable BRI E = 1,049 = —
6,840 6,177 781 486
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BAFSiR KB

20. CONVERTIBLE NOTE PAYABLE 20. FEfOTiRRRELE

On 1 February 2004, LK, an 80% owned subsidiary of
the Group, issued a convertible note with a face value of
HK$20,650,000 to a minority shareholder of that
subsidiary. The beneficial shareholder of the minority
shareholder waived the loans of approximately
HK$43,500,000 made to a subsidiary of LK, namely UR.
The convertible note is unsecured, bears interest at 0.65%
per month, and is convertible into shares of LK within 12
months from a proposed listing of the shares of LK, or is
repayable upon maturity of the convertible note on 31
January 2006 if not converted.

The minority shareholder had indicated that he has no
intention to convert the note into shares of LK subsequent
to 30 December 2004.

According to the relevant terms of the convertible note
agreement, LK is responsible for the financing of the
repayment of the convertible note on maturity as the note
issuer. Appropriate steps would be taken by the Group to
protect the interest of the Group and the rest of the Group
intact. No guarantee of any form has been issued by the
Group to subordinate the debt of LK. LK has to pay interest
at 0.65% per month on the face value of HK$20,650,000
commencing from May 2003. In this connection, interest
expense of HK$1,754,000 (2003: HK$1,049,000) was
charged to the income statement during the year ended
31 December 2004 as interest on the convertible note
payable.

R-ZEZTENF_F—B  ~&EEE
0% R ZHMBARERZARITHES
20,650,000/8 T 2 R B T2 B
PNEZDERR  ZPVEBRRZEER
RERETFEEHS —RHMBA T BN
&) 2 B #43,500,00058 7T © AIRKRE
BIEIKE SAEEE065E > AT
RESHEZRHMEZLEH2ARI2EA
RABABSHZRMG  AMREE
BR=ZEEE-—A=+—HUERE
BRI H R EE

ZOBRREERT  HEIR-ZZN
F+-A=THEREBRARABSH
ZBAp o

RETEREZEGZEZAEBGR B2
BEREBZBITA  BENREIHER
EEEVERERE - AEEKKEGEE
B UREAEERAEEBEMRKE
BT EZEEE - AREELEZ L
1?:1513?2&%2#%1%11& EES G EE o
BEREN-_ZST=FHAESARE
>720 65/ X {4 {E20,650,00058 7T 2 F
oAl EREE-ZETE+_A
=+— BLEEEERRNBIERX
1,754,000 7T (ZZZE =4 : 1,049,000
BT AEATRREEZFIE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

21. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised
2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.1 each

Issued and fully paid
476,237,105 ordinary shares of
HK$0.1 each

22. EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTIONS

21.

ETE BN
2,000,000,0008% = 1%
HE0. 1B T 2EBIR

EETHERAK
476,237,105 F I%
HE0. 1B T Z2EBER

22.

94 Annual Report 2004 |

The Company has a share option scheme, under which it
may grant options to employees of the Group (including
executive directors of the Company) to subscribe for
shares in the Company, subject to a maximum of 10% of
the nominal value of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time, excluding for this purpose
shares issued on exercise of options. The subscription
price will be determined by a duly authorised committee
of the Board of Directors which includes all the
independent non-executive directors of the Company
from time to time. The subscription price will not be less
than (a) the closing price of the shares quoted on GEM
on the date of offer of the options or (b) the average of
the closing prices of the shares quoted on GEM for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer
of the options, whichever is the higher, provided that the
subscription price will not be lower than the nominal value
of the shares.

No share options were granted during the year and no
share options were outstanding at the beginning and end
of the year.

. S
Company
AAT

2004 2003
—ETTHE —EE=HF
HK$000 HK$000
FEIT FET
2,000,000 2,000,000
47,624 47,624

ESREIRE

ARRATERLBREE - TRAAEE
BE (BEAQXFANTES) KHTRE
RRBRD ZBRE - EEERD &
B SEBEBAQTA TR BITRA Gt
MEE A BERTEBREMBIT 2R
M) EEZ10% - RBEEEHARLTES
SEAREZZEE BEAQRATEZ
FEBLYITES) BT - RBETE
1R (@) B A9 TR 15 H B AR H HBFE R R AR
ZWHERORONBEEZREBRER
HE AT RER S B ERIER 2 Pl m
B UBRSEAE) - ERBERSER
RAD 2 EE e

FRIERHBERE  REDRFRH
BREARTEZBRE -




Asian Information Resources (Holdings) Limited
) i ERUE (B A R A F

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

23. RESERVES 23. &
Company EAT
Capital
Share redemption Contributed Accumulated
premium reserve surplus losses
i) &% B 25t Total
i fE O B& 3] @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEx FET FET FET
(Note)
(Hizt)
As at 1 January 2003 R=-Z2Z=
—A—H 86,907 800 13,882 (122,662) (21,073)
Loss for the year EREE — — — (14,779) (14,779)
As at 31 December 2003 R-ZZE=
+=ZB=1+—H 86,907 800 13,882 (137,441) (35,852)
Transfer to share premium  EEZRHEER 800 (800) — — —
Loss for the year EnEE — — — (16,693) (16,693)
As at 31 December 2004 R-SENE
+=-A=+-—H 87,707 — 13,882 (154,134) (52,545)
Note: Btat -
The contributed surplus of the Company represents the BARZEHRBBRIEARAARBTEBRZE
difference between the nominal value of the ordinary shares EENEEEAE QBB RBIRMDUEE 2K
issued by the Company and the net asset value of a subsidiary BRARIZEEFEZER

acquired through an exchange of shares as at the date of the
group reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

23.

SBES Annual Report 2004 |

RESERVES (Contd)

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands,
share premium, capital redemption reserve and contributed
surplus are distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition
that the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of share premium, capital redemption reserve
and contributed surplus if:

(i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due, or

(i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share
capital account.

Group

The capital reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value of the ordinary shares issued
by the Company and the aggregate of the share capital
and share premium of subsidiaries acquired through an
exchange of shares as at the date of the group
reorganisation and the waiver of loans by a related party
on 1 February 2004.

All the reserves of the Group are attributable to the
Company and its subsidiaries.

23. @ (&

BEEBHBATE (B5TA) - RARME -
ESEEHERERRBTHIRTRE
He

() BREIRDIREBELEBIMEE X

(i) HEEZTEREEERMAZERAER
BHEHERITRAZEM  AIARRERE
ERFKTIRE  SIARDRE - &R
BOREREHRSBRELDIK

XEE

FEEZEXARBEALARTEER
ZHEENEEEAEAZBRH TR
WEB B D B 2 AR R R ERRE
UERBEATR-ZTNF_A—-—BH
RERZERE -

AEEfFEESBACARENE AR
FRE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

24. NOTETO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 24, GEBERERME
STATEMENT
(a) Acquisition of a subsidiary (a) WEE—RIMIEBAS
On 1 February 2004, the Group acquired a 60% R-ZEZENF_A—H  A~EEU
equity interest in EverOK for a consideration of X 1E8,868,0007& Tt W iE T &k 18 18
HK$8,868,000. This transaction has been accounted 60% A MER  ZRBERKIES
for by the acquisition method of accounting. FHEAER o
HK$'000
FET
Net assets acquired: Tz EEFHE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERXE 995
Interest in an associate R—REBE AR 2 ER 40
Cash and bank balances RERBITEER 11,734
Accounts receivable JE U BR =X 11,540
Prepayments, deposits FEIRIE » e R EMEWERR
and other receivables 1,340
Accounts payable FE A BR K (14,085)
Accruals and other payables FEIRERA R HMEMIRMR (5,421)
Minority interests DR RER (2,457)
3,686
Goodwill on acquisition g1 SR 5,182
Total consideration BRE 8,868
Satisfied by: UTHEREZAM :
Cash e 6,606
Investment deposit paid in FFEXFzRERSE
previous year 2,262
8,868
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BffE#R KMzt

24. NOTETOTHE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT (Contd)

(a) Acquisition of a subsidiary (Contd)

Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of the acquisition of the subsidiary is as
follows:

BeRE

Cash consideration
Cash and bank balances acquired

Net inflow of cash and bank balances

on acquisition RAFE
The subsidiary acquired in the current year
contributed HK$199,199,000 to the Group's turnover
and accounted for HK$676,000 of consolidated loss
before minority interests for the year ended 31
December 2004.

P 2 & RIRITAER

24. FEBERERME (&)

(a) WEE—FEMBAST (&)
RBBHBLAR2RERREEE
YIRAFEDHOT :

HK$'000
FET

(6,600)
11,734

Wi 2 RS RIRITAEER

5,128

RAFERKEE 2B A AEARE
B2 EH/A199,199,000/
T EBEZEENF A=
—HLEFERFIERRERAZ
A E18676,000/8 7T °
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24. NOTETO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 24. ZGEBERERME &)

STATEMENT (Contad)
(b) Wifg & —EMEBAT

(b) Acquisition/consolidation of a subsidiary
FR AEEURE2ETIGE—
BB AT Z280% B AR » &R
ZERBBETHAEAR -

During the year, the Group acquired an additional
80% equity interest in an associate for a
consideration of HK$2. This transaction has been
accounted for by the acquisition method of

accounting.
HK$'000
FET
Net assets acquired: Tz EEFHE
Cash and bank balances BE MIBITEER 278
Accruals and other payables FEIRERA R HMEMNIRMK (13)
Amounts due from related parties FEUREE A £ FKIE (96)
169
Negative goodwill on acquisition WHEEEEZ2EHE (129)
Total consideration BB 40
Satisfied by: UTHAFREZAN
Cash and bank balances Be MBITEER —
Reclassification of interest in EFoER—BEBEQT
an associate IS 40
40
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24. NOTETOTHE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT (Contd)

(b)

(c)

(d)
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Acquisition/consolidation of a subsidiary (Contd)

Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of the acquisition of the subsidiary is as
follows:

Cash and bank balances acquired

The results of the additional interest acquired in the
current year contributed HK$1,026,000 to the
Group's turnover and accounted for HK$278,000 of
consolidated loss before minority interests for the
year ended 31 December 2004. The turnover and
profit/(loss) before minority interests amounts
exclude the former associate’s contribution to the
results prior to its becoming a subsidiary.

Disposal of long term investment

In January 2004, the Group disposed of its entire
5.63% equity interest in Knowledge Base, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands,
for a cash consideration of HK$300,000.

Major non-cash transactions

As detailed in Note 20 to the financial statements,
loans of approximately HK$43,500,000 from the
beneficial shareholder of a minority shareholder of
certain subsidiaries, were waived. Consequently, a
subsidiary of the Group issued a convertible note
with a face value of HK$20,650,000 to the minority
shareholder.

24,

FELE&RERME &

(b)

Frii e 2 B & RIRITHEER

(c)

(d)

WiESFeE—EMEBAT (&)
RBBHBLAR2RERREEE
YIRAFED T
HK$000
FET

278

REAFEREER CEBHAEE
¥ EE 51,026,000/ 7T
WEBZE_ZETNF+_A=+—
Bt FERTTDERRERA 248
A E518278,000/8 7T - EEERK
ST BB RER AT 2R, (BE)
RETBEABENARRBH B
NAEAIZ EEER/ ©

HERHRA

R-ZZ2NE—F XEEURE
KE300,0008 T HEHER
Knowledge Base (—REIREBE KL
BEaEMAILzZLAE) 22
5.63% M ©

FEEBEER S

WA TS SRR MIEE 20 Pttt - 2 TRt
BRARLVERRZEZBRRZER
#743,500,000/8 T EEE#H & o
It AEEZ BB ATRTH
{E/420,650,000/8 T 2 AR EZHE
FELEBRR -
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25. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 25. HEHEKE
The Group leases its office premises, staff quarters and AEERBLEHERHEEHLRLE
motor vehicle under operating lease arrangements. ME -BEIBERAE HELERHZ
Leases are negotiated for terms from one to four years. FHA—FEZONF -
As at 31 December 2004, the Group had future aggregate R-ZZZENF+=-A=+—H ' £&H
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable BRERAEWE BEIBERAEZT
operating lease in respect of office premises, staff AHEREHEEARBEITZ2&E
quarters and motor vehicle as follows: HEFBELABNOT :
2004 2003
—TEnmE —EE2=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within one year —FR 1,688 1,016
In the second to fifth years, E_FEEZEREF
inclusive (BREREREME) 870 10
2,558 1,026
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group had the following transactions with related
parties during the year:

(@ Amounts due from related companies are
unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of
repayment.

(b)  Amounts due to directors are unsecured and interest
free. Apart from an amount of approximately
HK$345,000 which has no fixed terms of repayment,
the remaining balance is not due for repayment
within the next twelve months.

(c) As at 31 December 2004, the Group had an amount
due to China Collections Limited, a minority
shareholder, of approximately HK$181,000 (2003:
HK181,000), which is unsecured, interest free and not
due for repayment within the next twelve months.

(d) During the year, loans of approximately
HK$43,500,000 (2003: HK$43,368,000) from the
beneficial shareholder of a minority shareholder of
certain subsidiaries, were waived. Consequently, the
Group issued a convertible note with a face value of
HK$20,650,000 to the minority shareholder. The
convertible note is unsecured, bears interest at
0.65% per month and convertible into shares of LK
within 12 months from the proposed listing of the
shares of LK, or is repayable upon maturity of the
convertible note on 31 January 2006 if not
converted. As a result of these transactions, the
Group’s net assets increased by approximately
HK$9,323,000. The corresponding interest expense
during the year was HK$1,754,000 and a total of
HK$2,803,000 was accrued and included in amounts
due to minority shareholders as at 31 December
2004.

26. FEANLRS

FEBRAFEZHEALRZUT !

(b)

(d)

EYREERARFASERE 28
R 3f 4% [ E = AR o

EAESHERREARSE - B
b 45 [E 2 330 2 5B 49345,000
BTN B BERARRS (B
B e o

R-ZBENFE+ZA=+—-HB ' &
EEESFFLHERRChina
Collections Limited Z F 38 £9181,000
BT (ZZZ=F:181,0008
TT) c ZRIEAEIKE  %ERDE
ERARRT-EARNEE -

FR BTHBARLERRZE
HRRZ2EF#43,500,000/8 T
(ZZZ =4 : 43,368,000/8 T) ©
WER o FHit  AEBBTHEHES
20,650,00058 Jt 2 A 2 IR Z 5 F 3%
DEMRER o ATRAREZETEIKF
SRAEEAE065E  TRES#HEZ
B iEE LT 2 A28 A R ik
AEIHRZRHG > SEKREER B
RIBEZEARF—A=1+—HERK
ZRFHEEE  c HREERS
TEBZ2EEFEEMD
9,323,000/ 7T - FRAMEEZF B
B A1,754,0008 7T » s 2K
¥EAH£2,803,0008 T ER=
EENFE+_A=+—HitABE
L ERERE ©
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27. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

(i)

Petition

On 1 August 2005, two subsidiaries of the Company,
namely LK and UR were cited as Respondents in a
petition filed by PINE, the minority shareholder of
LK, for seeking High Court’s order to certain minority
shareholder’s rights and/or if the Court thinks fit, to
wind up UR under the Order of the Court. The
minority shareholder also disputed certain payment
of management fees by UREDY for services
rendered by another group company. No ruling was
made by the Court in two intervening petition
hearings in September and October of 2005. The
Petitions were adjourned for another hearing on a
day to be fixed in due course. The Company is taking
legal advice as to the merits of the proceedings and
the outcome of the dispute is still pending and may
lead to the winding up of the subsidiaries. The said
winding up action would have no material adverse
effect on the financial position of the Group with
the exception that its investments in these
subsidiaries would be de-consolidated. As for the
year ended 31 December 2004, the assets and
liabilities of these subsidiaries were consolidated
into the financial statements of the Group in
accordance with the Accounting Standards
applicable at the time of the preparation of the
financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2004.

27. BEBESHERYAGR

(i)

24

RZZEZHEENB—H ARAW
BB AR R REEWERE
EERIVEREANKERER
ERA ZEFZENASREE
AR AL RGITEE TR RE
M,/ SESELERAABEZE
T RESEAERESESES
Eﬁ@‘%ﬂﬁi’ﬁ\ﬁ‘dﬂiﬁlw—
AR RERBLABESERMES
BRiZf2ETERBREFE -
EREAR-EERFNART A
BT ZMR2FRAELEBIR - Z
ZEFCOEHNETEERBEEZ
HEABERREN o NA R EEREER
MZBESREZRR  MFEFRZ
HRMBEFRE  WARESIBESE
MEBQAREES - FIERITEHET
SHAEB M BARRERE K
2 EAEENZERBARZER
ERTHASRERB RN - RE
—Eﬁﬁ—{——ﬁ =t+—HIEF
ZEMBLARIZEERAEY
TRE@%E%%ZE:‘:— SEMFE+ /A=
T-BLFEMKBRRBBERAZ
SR REREEBZ IR
E LN

/ﬁn:n.
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27. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES (Contd)

(ii) Option

Cyber Strategy Limited (“CS"), a subsidiary of the
Group, had received notification from PINE
demanding CS to purchase its 20% equity interest
in LK for HK$12,500,000. The Group is taking legal
advice as to the merits of the demand and counter
claims might be instigated by the Group against the
minority shareholder. Having consider the legal
structure of the Group, the Directors consider that
the demand, if succeeded, would have no material
impact on the financial position of the Group or it's
ability to continue to operate its other principal
activities since the obligation to purchase the 20%
equity interest in LK rests with a specific subsidiary
only.

28. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform with current year presentation.

(ii)

27. SEBEBERSAAGE A)

REBEHB L REEREERA A
(s ) B W EI MR EREE
KHELL12,500,000 8 THEEENKE
SEHE20% BRAER 2B o NEE
EREBEREBESREEZER
rEBREOZLERRRELER
i o WREBAREBZ LEEEE
EERHMEZERKT 0 ZER
HAEBE 2 MHERTREBELSE
HtEBEEREZENETEBAE

e HIBERBEESH20%
IRAE S 2 EEERN —BFEM
BT e

28. LbEE=F

ETHREFCEH IR UWHEEEF

EZ28AK -
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